




Recycling/Disposal Sticker  
 1st sticker $30; 2nd sticker $15 
 Seniors (60), 1st $20, 2nd $10 
 Replacement sticker $10 
 Limit of two (2) stickers per property 

owner/residential household. 
 Credit/debit card or check only.  NO CASH.   

 
GENERAL RULES 

 No Smoking. 

 Abusive language toward 
employees will not be tolerated. 

 Stickers are Town property. 

 Any violations of these rules may 
result in loss of sticker. 

 State waste disposal bans must 
be followed.  These items include: 
commercial organic material, recyclable 
paper, single resin narrow neck plastic 
containers, metal and glass containers, 
yard waste and leaves, lead acid 
batteries, whole tires, cathode ray tubes, 
white goods (appliances), metal, asphalt 
pavement, brick, concrete, wood (>5 cu. 
yd. loads). 

 Fluorescent bulbs must be recycled. 

 Stickers only issued to Bourne 
residential property owners and renters 
with proof of residence.  Raw 
landowners, JBCC residents and MMA 
students do not qualify. 

 Stickers will not be applied to 
Vehicles with: 

 Dump bodies  
 Trailers greater than 12 feet  
 Beds longer than 8 feet 
 Sidewalls higher than cab 
 Bodies larger than a standard 

passenger van 
 Dealer plates or rental cars 
 Business lettering (but sticker is kept at 

the guard shack for referral) 

 Proof of residence or ownership 
required including: 

 Current driver’s license and 
 Current vehicle registration 
 One of the following shall be required: 

o Current property tax bill 
o Current lease  
o Current deed with stamps 
o Other current substantive 

documentation 

 Department personnel will apply and 
remove all stickers on vehicles. 

 Hazardous wastes/products and 
business wastes are prohibited. 

 No high-pressure cylinders. 

 The Town may track and question 
excessive numbers of loads or ask 
for proof of a building permit. 

 Builders who build houses on 
speculation must bring that waste 
over the scale and pay. 

 The acceptance of C&D and bulky 
items is dependent upon the Town’s 
ability to replace full containers and 
may be suspended periodically. 

 Trailers are not to be used for 
commercial “dump runs.” 

 Areas other than the residential 
recycling center and department 
offices are off limits. 

 All scrap metal and other 
recyclables are the property of the 
Town.  Picking is prohibited. 

 Site is under video surveillance. 
 The Town recognizes that special 

circumstances may arise.  In these 
situations, a temporary sticker or other 
arrangements may be made.  Sticker 
holders must be present with the load 
unless otherwise approved.  Please call 
or visit the ISWM office in advance. 

 Marijuana/cannabis residuals, including 
plants, must go in the trash not the 
composting area. 

 
Household Hazardous Waste (HHW) 
Regional waste collection days are held each April 
- October, dates TBA.  Look for a separate 
mailing, local ads or visit the ISWM website for 
more information and how to access collections all 
over the Cape. 

 

 



ACCEPTABLE ITEMS (prices may change)  

 Bulky items: each household will get 4 
bulky item stickers, good for 2022 only, 
that can be used for free disposal of the 
items below.  Bulky item stickers must 
be presented or charges will apply. The 
charges are:  

 Bulky item stickers must be presented or 
charges will apply. The charges are:  

 Appliances (including microwaves) - $10  

 Flat screen monitors and TVs, computers 
(CPUs), Cathode Ray Tubes (TVs, 
monitors) - $20  

 Mattresses, boxsprings, sofa beds - $20 

 Fluorescent bulbs - One sticker per 
bundle of up to 8 - $4 each bulb   

 Tires - up to 4 small tires per sticker 
allowed.  Auto/motorcycle/vehicle/mower   
< 16” - $10, vehicle/truck 16” - 20” - $20, 
vehicle/truck > 20” - $60 

 Recyclables, scrap metal 

 Yard waste, brush and stumps 

 Residential garbage and rubbish 

 Bulky items, textiles and furniture  

 Construction & demolition debris/shingles 

 Propane tanks (20 lbs. and small cylinders)  

 Batteries- Ni-Cad, auto/marine, lithium 

 Mercury containing items- thermometers, 
thermostats, switches 

 PCB ballasts 

 Paint- March 26th through October 8th, 10 can 
limit/day 

 Waste oil and antifreeze (5 gallon limit each), 
oil filters, no gasoline 
 

SWAP SHOP 
 Only leave items in good condition. 

 No loitering over 20 minutes or 
harassing others. 

 Items are to be left and taken free of 
charge.  No financial transactions of any 
kind allowed. 

 The Swap Shop is not for commercial 
users. 

 
Do not leave at Swap Shop 
 Items with sharp broken parts, water 

damage or mildew. 

 Mattresses, boxsprings, futons, sleeper 
sofas, pillows. 

 Fluorescent bulbs, child car seats  

 Televisions, computer monitors 

 Paint, hazardous products 

 Rubbish 

 Clothing (use textile containers) 
 

PAY FOR AT SCALE (sticker holders only) 

 Campers, boats and RVs.  

 Scale availability during residential 
recycling center hours; Mon. – Fri., 
7:00 a.m. – 3:00 p.m.  Saturdays 7:00 
a.m. – noon.  Closed Sundays.  Subject 
to seasonal schedule. 
 

FOR SALE 
Compost bins - $40  

Bourne Board of Selectmen 
Recycling Center Policy 

Calendar Year 2022  
201 MacArthur Boulevard (RT. 28 N) 

 

 
 

Approved by the Selectmen of Bourne: 
Peter J. Meier, Chair 

Judith MacLeod-Froman, Vice Chair 
George G. Slade, Clerk 

Jared P. MacDonald 
Mary Jane Mastrangelo 

 
HOURS OF OPERATION 

Labor Day to Memorial Day  
Wed. – Mon., 7:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. 

Closed Tuesdays & Holidays 
 

Memorial Day to Labor Day 
7 days a week, 7:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. 

Closed Holidays  
Exact dates to be posted later 

 

IMPORTANT PHONE NUMBERS 
ISWM Office   508-759-0600, ext. 4 
Recycling Center 508-759-0643 
Scale   508-759-0639 
Town Hall  508-759-0600 
Bourne Board of Health 508-759-0600, ext. 1513 
DPW (curbside)  508-759-0600, ext. 3 
Website          www.townofbourne.com 

http://www.townofbourne.com/


Page 1 of 28 

 

 

 

 

 

Town of Bourne 
Charter 

With Recommendations for Changes 

DRAFT Submission for the Legislature 

 

Submitted By The 

CHARTER REVIEW COMMITTEE 

 

For the Special Town Meeting 

November 15, 2021 

 

 
 



Page 2 of 28 

 

 
Chapter 117 AN ACT AMENDING THE CHARTER OF THE TOWN OF BOURNE.  
 
Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives in General Court assembled, and by the 
authority of the same as follows: 
 
SECTION 1. The following shall be the charter of the town of Bourne: 
 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 
TOWN OF BOURNE HOME RULE CHARTER 
ARTICLE 1 EXISTENCE AND AUTHORITY 
Section 1-1 Incorporation 
Section 1-2 Charter and Form of Government 
Section 1-3 Division of Powers 
Section 1-4 Powers of the Town; Intent of the Voters 
Section 1-5 Interpretation of Powers 
Section 1-6 Intergovernmental Relations 
 
ARTICLE 2 LEGISLATIVE BRANCH 
Section 2-1 Open Town Meeting 
Section 2-2 Presiding Officer 
Section 2-3 Time of Meetings 
Section 2-4 Warrants 
Section 2-5 Initiation of Warrant Articles  
(a) Initiation 
(b) Time for Closing Town Meeting Warrants 
(c) Availability of the Voter Handbook 
Section 2-6 Availability of Town Officials at Town Meetings 
Section 2-7 Clerk of the Meeting 
Section 2-8 Rules of Procedure 
Section 2-9 Finance Committee 
 
ARTICLE 3 EXECUTIVE BRANCH, BOARD OF SELECTMEN SELECT BOARD 
Section 3-1 Term of Office, Composition 
Section 3-2 Vacancy 
Section 3-3 Policy Role 
Section 3-4 Powers and Duties 
Section 3-5 Appointing Powers 
Section 3-6 Prohibitions 
Section 3-7 Intergovernmental Relations 
Section 3- 8: Rules of Procedure 
 
ARTICLE 4 TOWN ADMINISTRATOR 
Section 4-1 Appointment; Qualification; Term 
Section 4-2 Relationship of the Town administrator and the Board of selectmen select board 
Section 4-3 Vacancy in Office 
Section 4-4 Temporary Absence 
Section 4-5 Procedures for Removal of Town administrator 
Section 4-6 Powers and Duties 



Page 3 of 28 

 

 
ARTICLE 5 ADMINISTRATIVE ORGANIZATION 
Section 5-1 Table of Organization 
Section 5-2 Organization of Town Government 
Section 5-3 Public Hearing and Effective Date 
Section 5-4 Department of Public Works  
(a) Establishment 
(b) Superintendent Director of Public Works 
(c) Scope and Functions 
(d) Policy 
Section 5-5 Department of Integrated/Solid Waste Management  
(a) Establishment 
(b) General Manager 
(c) Scope and Functions 
(d) Policy 
Section 5-6 Department of Finance  
(a) Establishment and Scope 
(b) Director of Finance 
(c) Board of Assessors 
(d) Town Accountant 
(e) Treasurer 
(f) Town Collector 
Section 5-7 Police Department 
Section 5-8 Fire Department 
 
ARTICLE 6 OTHER ELECTED TOWN BOARDS AND OFFICERS GOVERNMENTAL BODIES 
Section 6-1 Other Elected Town Boards and Officers  
Governmental Bodies and Officials 
(a) General Provisions 
(b) Town boards Governmental bodies to be elected in addition to the Board of selectmen select board 
Section 6-2 Moderator 
Section 6-3 Town Clerk 
Section 6-4 Constable 
Section 6-5 School Committee 
Section 6-6 Board of Health 
Section 6-7 Planning Board 
Section 6-8 Housing Authority 
Section 6-9 Recreation Authority 
Section 6-10 Trustees of the Jonathan Bourne Public Library 
Section 6-11 Trustees of the Soldiers Memorials 
Section 6-12 Upper Cape Cod Regional Vocational Technical School Committee 
 
ARTICLE 7 FINANCE AND FISCAL PROCEDURES 
Section 7-1 Budget Process 
Section 7-2 Capital Improvement Program  Plan and Capital Improvement  Budget 
Section 7-3 Long Term Financial Forecast 
Section 7-4 Finance Committee Action 
Section 7-5 Approval of Warrants for Payment 
 
 



Page 4 of 28 

 

ARTICLE 8 GENERAL PROVISIONS 
Section 8-1 Charter Changes 
(a) Charter Revisions and Amendments 
(b) Periodic Charter Review 
Section 8-2 Severability 
Section 8-3 Specific Provisions Prevail 
Section 8-4 References to General Laws 
Section 8-5 Elections 
Section 8-6 Procedures for Multiple Member Bodies Governmental Bodies 
(a) Meetings 
(b) Quorum 
(c) Minutes 
Section 8-7 Computation of Time 
Section 8-8 Number and Gender 
Section 8-9 Definitions 
Section 8-10 Rules and Regulations 
 
ARTICLE 9 RECALL PROVISIONS 
Section 9-1 Application 
Section 9-2 Recall Petition 
Section 9-3 Recall Election 
Section 9-4 Nomination of Candidates 
Section 9-5 Incumbent Status 
Section 9-6 Propositions on Ballot 
Section 9-7 Time Limitation 
Section 9-8 Limit on Recalled Official 
 
ARTICLE 10 TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS 
Section 10-1 Continuation of Existing Laws 
Section 10-2 Continuation of Government 
Section 10-3 Continuation of Personnel 
Section 10-4 Transfer of Records and Property 
Section 10-5 Effective Date 
 
ARTICLE 11 – CHARTER COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE 
 



Page 5 of 28 

 

PREAMBLE 
 
We, the people of Bourne, in order to reaffirm the customary and traditional liberties of the people with 
respect to the conduct of our local government and to take the fullest advantages inherent in the home 
rule amendment, article LXXXIX of the amendments to the Constitution of the Commonwealth, do hereby 
adopt the following home rule charter for the town of Bourne.  
 
Article 1 
Existence and Authority. 
 
Section 1-1: Incorporation. 
The inhabitants of the town of Bourne within the territorial limits established by law shall continue to be a 
body corporate and politic under the name "Town of Bourne."  
 
Section 1-2: Charter and Form of Government. 
This instrument shall be known and may be cited as the Bourne home rule charter. This charter provides 
for an open town meeting, board of selectmen select board, town administrator form of government.  
 
Section 1-3: Division of Powers. 
The administration of all the fiscal, prudential and municipal affairs of the town shall be vested in an 
executive branch which shall be headed by a board of selectmen select board. The legislative powers shall 
be exercised by an open town meeting.  
 
Section 1-4: Powers of the Town; Intent of the Voters. 
It is the intent and purpose of the voters of the town of Bourne, through the adoption of this charter, to 
secure for the town all of the powers possible under the Constitution and laws of the commonwealth, as 
fully and as completely as though each power were specifically and individually enumerated herein.  
 
Section 1-5: Interpretation of Powers. 
The powers of the town under this charter shall be construed and interpreted liberally in favor of the town 
and the specific mention of any particular power shall not limit in any way the general powers of the town 
as stated in section 1-4.  
 
Section 1-6: Intergovernmental Relations. 
The town may enter into agreements, by contract or otherwise, with any other unit of government to 
perform any of its powers or functions jointly or in cooperation with any other unit of government. 
 
Article 2 
Legislative Branch. 
 
Section 2-1: Open Town Meeting. 
The legislative powers of the town shall continue to be exercised by a town meeting open to all voters.  
 
Section 2-2: Presiding Officer. 
The town moderator, elected as provided in section 6-2, shall preside at all sessions of the town meeting, 
shall regulate the proceedings at town meeting, shall decide all questions of order and shall make public 
declarations of all votes.  
 
 
 



Page 6 of 28 

 

Section 2-3: Time of Meetings. 
The annual town meeting shall convene at such time as provided by by-law. Special town meetings shall 
be convened at such times as may be called by the board of selectmen select board, by petition of the 
voters as provided by law or at such other times as may be provided by by-law.  
 
Section 2-4: Warrants. 
A town meeting shall be called by a warrant issued by the board of selectmen select board, which shall 
state the date, time and location at which the meeting is to convene and, by separate articles, the subject 
matters to be acted upon. The publication of the warrant for a town meeting shall be in accordance with 
town by-laws governing such matters.  
 
Section 2-5: Initiation of Warrant Articles.  
(a) The board of selectmen select board shall receive at any time before the warrant closes and insert in 
the warrant all petitions addressed to it which request the submission of any matter to the town meeting 
and which are submitted to it by: (1) an elected town officer; (2) a town elected or appointed multiple 
member body governmental body acting by vote of a majority of its members; (3) 10 or more voters 
stating their residences with street numbers, if any, subject to the subsequent certification by the board of 
registrars that at least 10 per cent of the signers are voters; provided, however, that in the case of a 
special town meeting, the number of voters shall be 100 or 10 per cent of the total amount of voters in 
the town, whichever is lesser; and (4) the town administrator.  
 
(b) The board of selectmen select board shall close the warrant not less than 50 days prior to the date for 
the annual town meeting and not less than 25 30 days prior to the date for any special town meeting. By 
majority vote 4/5th vote of members present and voting, the board of selectmen  select board may waive 
the aforementioned requirements for the special town meeting in case of emergency or when calling a 
special town meeting less than 30 days before the date of the special town meeting. 
 
 
(c) The voter handbook shall include the text of any annual or special town meeting warrant with the 
recommendations and counted votes of the finance committee, board of selectmen  select board and any 
other appointed or elected board or committee proposing an article. In the voter handbook for the annual 
town meeting, the selectmen select board members shall include the recommended operating budget 
with revenue projections, their budget goals. Departmental goals for the upcoming fiscal year an 
organization table chart, and five-year financial, debt and capital projections. The voter handbook shall be 
available to the public at the town hall, the public library, and the town’s website not less than 15 days 
before the annual town meeting or any special town meeting. By majority vote the select board may 
waive the requirements for a special town meeting in case of an emergency or when calling a special 
town meeting less than 30 days before the date of the special town meeting.  
 
Section 2-6: Availability of Town Officials at Town Meetings. 
Town officers officials, members of boards and commissions  governmental bodies and department heads 
or their duly designated representatives shall attend town meetings to furnish information when 
proposals affecting their respective offices, boards, commissions governmental bodies or departments are 
included in the warrant.  
 
Section 2-7: Clerk of the Meeting. 
The town clerk shall serve as clerk of the town meeting, shall give notice of all adjourned sessions thereof, 
shall record its proceedings and perform such additional duties in connection therewith as may be 
provided by the General Laws, this charter, by-law or other town meeting vote.  
 



Page 7 of 28 

 

Section 2-8: Rules of Procedure. 
Except for provisions addressed in this charter, the town meeting may, by by-law, establish and, from time 
to time, amend, revise or repeal rules governing the conduct of town meetings.  
 
 
Section 2-9: Finance Committee. 
A finance committee shall be appointed as provided by by-law. Town employees, including school 
employees, shall not be eligible for appointment to, or service on, the finance committee. The finance 
committee shall choose from its members a chairperson and fill such other offices as it may create. The 
chairperson of the finance committee may not chair any other governmental body. 
 
Article 3 
Executive Branch, Board of Selectmen Select Board. 
 
Section 3-1: Term of Office, Composition. 
There shall be a board of selectmen  select board to consist of  five members to be elected for 3- three 
year terms, so arranged that as nearly an equal number of terms as possible shall expire each year. The 
board of selectmen  select board shall also serve  act as sewer commissioners until such time as the town 
adopts legislation creating a board of sewer commissioners. 
 
Section 3-2: Vacancy. 
A vacancy in the office of selectmen  the select board shall be filled in accordance with the General Laws.  
 
Section 3-3: Policy Role. 
The board of selectmen  select board shall serve as the chief goal-setting and policy-making agency of the 
town, keeping in mind the goals, policies and action items of the strategic plan and local comprehensive 
plan, or LCP, and shall appoint a town administrator to carry out such policies. Annual goals as voted by 
the board of selectmen  select board shall be filed with the town administrator not later than July 1  
September 1st, after the regular spring town election and also published in the annual town report. 
 
An individual selectman select board member shall have no independent authority unless specifically 
authorized by a vote of the board of selectmen select board. Selectmen Select board members shall deal 
with administrative agencies and departments only through the town administrator. Selectmen Select 
board members, individually or as a board, shall not become involved in the day-to-day administration of 
a town department. The board of selectmen  select board shall act only through the adoption of written 
policy goals, strategic plan goals, policies and action items which shall be implemented by the town 
administrator and written in a policy book that shall be available to the public for review. 
 
Section 3-4: Powers and Duties. 
Except as otherwise provided by this charter, all executive powers of the town shall be vested in the board 
of selectmen select board and the board shall have all of the powers and duties given to boards of 
selectmen  select boards under the Constitution and General Laws of the commonwealth, shall have the 
power and authority to adopt rules and regulations, after public hearing and publication, for the 
conducting of town business, the use of town real and personal property, and other matters within its 
jurisdiction and to set the penalties for violations thereof, and such additional powers and duties as may 
be authorized by this charter, by by-law or by town meeting vote. The board of selectmen select board 
shall cause the laws and orders for the government of the town to be enforced and shall cause a record to 
be kept of all  its official acts. 
 
 



Page 8 of 28 

 

Section 3-5: Appointing Powers. 
The board of selectmen select board shall appoint the town administrator, town counsel, registrars of 
voters, and constables and members of all multi-member bodies The board shall also have the power to 
appoint other governmental bodies for whom no other appointment provision is made in this charter or 
by by-law. Representatives of boards or committees governmental bodies specified as members of a 
committee governmental body shall be designated by their respective boards or committees 
governmental body. Governmental bodies established by the select board shall possess and exercise all 
powers given to them under the Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth and shall possess and 
exercise such additional powers and duties as may be authorized by this charter, by-law or vote of town 
meeting. This charter names those governmental bodies which (1) are mandated or authorized by the 
laws of the Commonwealth and (2) exercise regulatory or other authority. All boards, committees and 
commissions governmental bodies appointed by the board of selectmen select board shall be responsible 
to the board of selectmen select board. 
 
Section 3-6: Prohibitions. 
(a) No member of the board of selectmen select board shall serve on an elected or appointed town board 
or committee governmental body established by this charter, by by-law, or by town meeting, unless 
otherwise specified in the charter, by-law, by town meeting or by any other applicable law. 
 
(b) No member of the board of selectmen select board  shall hold any other elected town office or town 
employment during that member’s term in office. 
 
(c) No person who has served as a member of the board of selectmen select board shall be employed by 
the town for two years after that member’s resignation or after the member’s term of office has expired. 
 
Section 3-7: Intergovernmental Relations. 
Members of the board of selectmen select board shall represent the town on federal, state, regional and 
intermunicipal committees or may designate a town employee or other person to represent the town on 
those committees. The select board shall maintain an active list of the governmental bodies and 
representation and make accessible to the public on the town’s website. 
 
Section 3-8: Rules of Procedure. 
The board of selectmen select board shall adopt, make public and abide by its own rules of procedure to 
govern the conduct of its meetings. An agenda shall be posted with each notice of public meeting. A 
period of public comment shall be scheduled before the beginning of agenda items. In addition, a public 
comment period shall be provided before any vote on a policy issue. The board of selectmen select board 
may deviate from its agenda only for sudden, generally unexpected occurrences or for circumstances 
demanding immediate action.  
 
 
Article 4 
Town Administrator. 
 
Section 4-1: Appointment; Qualification; Term. 
The board of selectmen select board shall appoint a town administrator search committee of not fewer 
than 5 five and not more than 9 nine residents of the community to assist the board of selectmen select 
board in the recruitment and selection of the town administrator. If the board of selectmen select board 
does not select one of the candidates presented by the search committee within 60 days, then the search 
committee shall resume its search and submit an additional list of candidates to the board of selectmen 
select board within 60 days after it resumes the search.  



Page 9 of 28 

 

 
The board of selectmen select board, by an affirmative vote of four members, shall appoint the town 
administrator for a term defined by contract and fix the town administrator’s compensation within the 
amount annually appropriated for that purpose. The town administrator’s contract will not automatically 
renew each contract period. The select board, by an affirmative vote of four of it’s members, shall 
renew the contract. The town administrator shall be appointed solely on the basis of executive and 
administrative qualifications. 
 
The town administrator shall be a professionally qualified person of proven ability, especially fitted to 
perform the duties of the office by education, training and previous experience in municipal 
administration. The town administrator shall have at least a bachelor’s degree, but preferably a master’s 
degree, in public administration, business management or a related field, at least 7 seven years 
experience in an upper level executive municipal position or any equivalent combination of education and 
experience. The town administrator need not be a resident of the town. when appointed but shall 
establish primary residence in the town of Bourne within 1 year after the date of appointment; provided, 
however, that the board of selectmen may, by simple majority vote of the selectmen in office at the time 
of appointment, extend the time for establishing residence or otherwise allow the town administrator to 
reside elsewhere. Once a residency exemption is granted to a specific town administrator, it shall not be 
rescinded in future contracts with that town administrator. 
 
The town administrator shall devote full time to the office and shall not hold any other public office, 
elective or appointive, or engage in any other business or occupation during the administrator’s term 
unless such action has been approved in writing in advance of such action by the board of selectmen 
select board. The town may from time to time, by by-law, establish such additional qualifications as it 
deems necessary and appropriate.  
 
Section 4-2: Relationship of the Town Administrator and the Board of Selectmen Select Board. 
 
The town administrator shall be the primary officer responsible for the implementation of the broad policy 
directives of the board of selectmen select board and for the attainment of yearly goals. The daily 
administration of the affairs of the town shall be the responsibility of the town administrator only. The 
town administrator may create advisory ad hoc committees to assist in the execution of the town 
administrator’s duties.  
 
The town administrator shall be evaluated by the board of selectmen select board annually for the town 
administrator’s ability to effectuate policy, to accomplish goals established by the board of selectmen 
 
select board, to effectively administer town government and to properly supervise all municipal 
employees, except school employees. 
 
Section 4-3: Vacancy in Office. 
Any permanent vacancy in the office of town administrator shall be filled as soon as possible by the board 
of selectmen select board. Pending the appointment of a town administrator, the board of selectmen 
select board shall, within 30 days, appoint some other a qualified person to serve as the acting town 
administrator.  



Page 10 of 28 

 

Section 4-4: Temporary Absence. 
The town administrator shall, by letter filed with the town clerk and board of selectmen select board, 
designate as acting town administrator, a qualified officer or employee of the town, to perform the 
duties of the town administrator during a temporary absence or disability. If the absence or disability is 
greater than ten business days, any designation made by the town administrator shall be subject to the 
approval of the board of selectmen select board. If the town administrator fails to make a designation 
or if the person so designated is unable to serve, the board of selectmen select board shall designate 
some other a qualified employee of the town to perform the duties of the town administrator until the 
town administrator shall return. The select board reserves the right to limit the powers and duties of 
the acting or interim town administrator by a majority vote of the select board. 
 
Section 4-5: Procedures for Removal of Town Administrator. 
The board of selectmen select board, by an affirmative vote of 4 four of its members, may initiate the 
removal of the town administrator by adopting a preliminary resolution of removal. The resolution shall 
set forth in reasonable detail the reasons for such removal. The preliminary resolution may suspend the 
town administrator for a period not to exceed 30 days. The resolution shall be delivered to the town 
administrator forthwith upon its adoption. The administrator, within 5 five days of receipt of the 
resolution of removal, may request a public hearing by the board of selectmen select board on the 
reasons stated in the resolution of removal. The board of selectmen select board shall convene the 
requested hearing not less than 7 seven and not more than 30 days after receipt of the request by the 
town administrator. The town administrator may be represented by counsel of the town administrator’s 
choosing, may call and question witnesses and may file a statement on the town administrator’s own 
behalf.  
 
If the town administrator does not request a public hearing, then the board of selectmen select board 
may adopt a final resolution of removal not earlier than 10 days after the delivery of the preliminary 
resolution of removal and not later than 20 days after the delivery of the preliminary resolution. If the 
town administrator requests a public hearing, the board of selectmen select board may adopt a final 
resolution of removal not earlier than 5 five days and not later than 10 days after the close of the public 
hearing. A final resolution of removal shall have an affirmative vote of 4 four members of the board of 
selectmen select board. Failure to adopt a final resolution of removal within the time limits set forth 
herein shall nullify the preliminary resolution of removal.  
 
The action of the board of selectmen select board in suspending or removing the town administrator 
shall be final. The town administrator shall continue to receive the town administrator’s salary until a 
final resolution of removal becomes effective.  
 
Section 4-6: Powers and Duties. 
The town administrator shall be the chief administrative officer of the town. The town administrator 
shall be responsible to the board of selectmen select board for the proper administration of all town 
affairs placed in the town administrator’s charge by or under the charter. The town administrator shall 
have the following powers and perform the following duties:  
 
(a) implement and carry out all policies and goals established by the board of selectmen select board 
and inclusion of the strategic plan;  
 
 



Page 11 of 28 

 

(b) appoint and, in appropriate circumstances, remove, subject to civil service laws and collective 
bargaining agreements where applicable, all department heads and employees, including members of 
the board of assessors and other employees for whom no other appointment provision is made in this 
charter; provided, however, that appointments made by the town administrator shall be effective 
immediately; provided, further, that an appointment of a department head or member of the board of 
assessors shall become effective on the fifteenth day after the day on which notice of the proposed 
appointment is filed with the board of selectmen select board unless a majority of the board of 
selectmen select board votes to reject the appointment within that period;  
 
(c) prepare and submit an annual operating budget and capital improvement program plan and capital 
improvement budget in accordance with sections 7-1 and 7-2 of this charter; and in accordance with the 
policies and goals established by the board of selectmen select board. 
 
(d) investigate or inquire into the affairs of a town department under the jurisdiction of the town 
administrator or, when authorized by the board of selectmen select board, investigate or inquire into 
the affairs of any other town department;  
 
(e) attend all regular and special meetings of the board of selectmen select board, unless unavailable for 
reasonable cause; provided, however, that the town administrator shall have a voice, but no vote, in all 
proceedings of the board of selectmen select board;  
 
(f) keep the board of selectmen select board fully informed of all issues and problems it needs to 
address. 
 
(g) inform the board of selectmen select board on departmental operations, fiscal matters and 
administrative actions and provide regular periodic reports to the board of selectmen select board;  
 
(h) inform the board of selectmen select board of the availability of public and private funding 
opportunities;  
 
(i) administer personnel human resource policies, practices, rules and regulations, compensation plans 
and related matters for all municipal employees, except school employees;  
 
(j) be responsible for the negotiation, administration and enforcement of collective bargaining 
agreements and other employment agreements, exclusive of the schools, on behalf of the board of 
selectmen select board;  
 
(k) have jurisdiction over all town property, insuring ensuring that a full inventory of all real and 
personal property is kept, excluding property under the jurisdiction of the school committee;  
 
(l) be responsible for and oversee the purchase of all supplies, materials, services and equipment and 
approve the award of all contracts for all town departments; provided, however, that the town 
administrator shall secure the approval of the board of selectmen select board for contracts of 3 three 
or more years; 
 
 
 



Page 12 of 28 

 

(m) fix the compensation of all town employees and officers appointed by the town administrator within 
the limits of the town’s compensation plan, collective bargaining agreements and other employment 
agreements; and inform the board of selectmen select board of all changes in compensation made 
within 30 days; 
 
(n) coordinate oversee the activities of all appointed and elected boards, committees and commissions 
governmental bodies; provided, however, that the town administrator may require elected boards 
governmental bodies and individuals to meet with and provide information to the town administrator 
at reasonable times for the purpose of coordination and financial planning;  
 
(o) create new full-time, compensated positions, subject to the approval of the select board and funding 
by the town meeting; provided, however, that the town administrator may enter into employment 
contracts for these positions; 
 
(p) supervise, direct and be responsible for the efficient administration of all officers appointed by the 
town administrator and their respective departments, and for all functions for which the town 
administrator is given responsibility, authority or control by this charter, by by-law, by town meeting 
vote or by vote of the board of selectmen select board;  
 
(q) delegate, authorize or direct any subordinate or employee appointed by the town administrator to 
exercise any power, duty or responsibility which the office of the town administrator is authorized to 
exercise; provided, however, that all such acts shall be deemed to be the acts of the town administrator;  
 
(r) administer and enforce either directly or through a person supervised by the town administrator, in 
accordance with this charter, all provisions of law applicable to the town, all by-laws and all regulations 
established by the board of selectmen select board ; and 
 
(s) attend all sessions of the town meeting to answer questions addressed to the town administrator 
which are related to warrant articles and matters of general supervision of the town administrator. 
 
Article 5 
Administrative Organization. 
 
Section 5-1: Table of Organization Organizational Chart. 
The town administrator shall annually submit a table of organization organizational chart establishing 
personnel requirements within all town departments to the board of selectmen select board by June 1. 
The table of organization select board shall become effective unless rejected by the board of selectmen 
select board within 30 days following its submission. 
 



Page 13 of 28 

 

Section 5-2: Organization of Town Government. 
Subject only to the express prohibitions in the Constitution, General Laws or this charter, the town 
administrator may prepare a plan to organize, reorganize, consolidate or abolish any town agency as the 
town administrator considers necessary or advisable. The town administrator may prescribe the 
functions of any town agency and, for such purpose, transfer the powers and duties and, so far as is 
consistent with the use for which the funds were voted by the town, transfer the appropriations of 1 
one town agency to another; provided, however, that no function assigned by this charter to a particular 
town agency may be discontinued or assigned to any other town agency unless specifically authorized in 
this charter or transferred to another agency in accordance with the provisions of 5-3. The town 
administrator shall not be prohibited by this charter from including the department of public works or 
the department of integrated solid waste management in any plan to organize, reorganize, consolidate 
or abolish a town agency that the town administrator considers necessary or advisable in accordance 
with this section. Any proposed plan submitted under this section by the town administrator shall be 
approved by an affirmative vote of 3 three members of the board of selectmen select board.  
 
Section 5-3: Public Hearing and Effective Date. 
Before the board of selectmen select board approves a proposed plan under section 5-2, it shall hold 1 
one or more public hearings on the proposal, giving notice by publication in a local newspaper at least 7 
seven days in advance of the hearing. The notice shall describe the scope of the proposal and the date 
and place where the hearing will be held. The selectmen select board members shall have 14 days after 
the close of the public hearing to propose amendments, if any, and vote on the final plan. The proposed 
organization shall become effective not sooner than 60 days following the selectmen’s vote on the final 
plan. Where the reorganization moves a function or funding from 1 one department to another, voters 
may petition for a special town meeting to address those changes. The proposed organization shall 
become effective not sooner than 60 days following the select board members’ vote on the final plan. 
 
Section 5-4: Department of Public Works. 
(a) There shall be a department of public works which shall be responsible for those public works 
functions described in this article and as may be assigned from time to time by the board of selectmen, 
town administrator or town meeting.  
 
(b) The department of public works shall be under the direct control of a superintendent director of 
public works who shall be appointed by and who shall be directly responsible to the town administrator. 
The superintendent director of public works shall be a registered civil engineer or a person otherwise 
especially suited by education, training and previous experience to perform the duties of the office. The 
superintendent director of public works shall keep full and complete records of the doings of the 
superintendent’s director’s office and shall render a report of all operations to the town administrator 
and board of selectmen as may be required. The superintendent director shall keep the town 
administrator fully advised as to the needs of the town within the scope of the superintendent’s 
director’s duties.  
 
(c) The department of public works shall include, but not be limited to, the following functions: highways 
and streets; storm drains; tree and park maintenance; public sewers; rubbish collection; and the 
maintenance and repair of town buildings, except school buildings unless requested by the school 
committee and approved by the board of selectmen select board.  
 
(d) The board of selectmen, acting through the town administrator, shall establish priorities and policies 
to govern the operation of the department of public works. 



Page 14 of 28 

 

 
Section 5-5: Department of Integrated Solid Waste Management. 
(a) There shall be a department of integrated solid waste management responsible for those solid waste 
functions described in this article and as may be assigned from time to time by the board of selectmen, 
town administrator or town meeting; 
 
(b) The department of integrated solid waste management shall be under the direct control of a general 
manager of waste management who shall be appointed by and directly responsible to the town 
administrator.  
 
 (c) The general manager shall be especially qualified by education, training and previous experience to 
perform the duties of the office. The general manager shall keep full and complete records of the doings 
of the office and report on all operations under its control to the town administrator and board of 
selectmen as may be required. The general manager shall keep the town administrator fully advised as 
to the needs of the town within the scope of its duties. 
 
(d) The department of integrated solid waste management shall include the solid waste functions 
approved under the site assignment administered by the board of health and in accordance with the 
policies established by the board of selectmen select board. The department’s functions shall also 
include the implementation of additional solid waste functions as approved by the select board and 
consistent with the site assignment.  
 
(e) The board of selectmen, acting through the town administrator, shall establish priorities and policies 
to govern the operation of the department of integrated solid waste management.  
 
Section 5-6: Department of Finance. 
(a) There shall be a department of finance responsible for the fiscal and financial affairs of the town and 
for the coordination and overall supervision of all fiscal and financial activities of all town government 
agencies. The department of finance shall include the functions of accountant, treasurer, collector and 
assessors. The department of finance shall be responsible for, and shall include, the following functions:  
 
 (1) coordination of all financial services and activities of town government;  
 (2) maintenance of all accounting records and other financial statements for all town offices and 
agencies;  
 (3) payment of all financial obligations on behalf of the town;  
 (4) investment of town funds and management of debt;  
 (5) receipt of all funds due to the town from any source;  
 (6) maintenance of the system of property valuation under the direction of the board of assessors;  
 (7) rendering of advice, assistance, guidance and recommendations to all other town offices and 
agencies in any financial or fiscal affairs;  
 (8) monitoring throughout the fiscal year the expenditure of funds by town offices and agencies;  
 (9) under the direction of the town administrator, supervise the purchase of all goods, services, 
materials and supplies by the town;  
 (10) general supervision of related financial data processing functions, and activities and equipment of 
town offices and agencies; and  
 (11) such additional functions as may from time to time be assigned by the town administrator.  
 



Page 15 of 28 

 

(b) The director of finance shall be appointed as provided in subsection (b) of section 4-6. The director of 
finance shall be especially fitted by education, training and experience to perform the duties of the 
office. The director of finance may serve as town accountant, town treasurer, town collector or principal 
assessor, but the finance director shall not serve as town accountant and town treasurer or as town 
accountant and town collector simultaneously. At the discretion of the town administrator, the director 
of finance may serve as the head of any division within the department. The town administrator may 
also designate a person to serve as head of more than 1 one division within the department. The 
director of finance shall be responsible to the town administrator for the effective operation of the 
department of finance and all fiscal and financial activities of town government. The director shall 
coordinate and provide overall supervision for all activities of the department and, in consultation with 
the town administrator, may direct and assign all personnel serving in that department. The director of 
finance shall be responsible to the town administrator and shall have the following specific powers and 
duties, subject to the direction of the town administrator:  
 
 (1) coordinating the financial functions of all departments and agencies and supervising the following 
functions: accounting; treasury; tax collections; assessing-related data processing; and budgeting and 
procurement and ensuring that each function is operating efficiently and in accordance with applicable 
laws, by-laws, codes and accepted practices;  
 (2) planning, organizing and providing administrative direction for all financial functions;  
 (3) working with the town administrator to develop strategic financial plans and policies;  
 (4) compiling and submitting an annual operating budget and an annual capital improvement plan to 
the town administrator; provided, however, that the director shall receive all requests made for the 
expenditure of town funds from each town office and agency and shall assemble all such requests into a 
form deemed to be best suited to show a complete financial plan for all town funds and activities for the 
ensuing fiscal year; and provided, further, that the proposed budget shall show in detail all estimated 
income from the proposed property tax levy and from every other source by category; and  
 (5) general oversight, throughout the year, of the expenditure of all town funds pursuant to such 
budgets and expenditures as authorized by town meeting.  
 
(c) There shall be a board of assessors, consisting of 3 three members to be appointed by the town 
administrator for overlapping 3-three year terms. The board of assessors shall have all of the duties and 
responsibilities assigned to boards of assessors by the General Laws.  
 
(d) There shall be a town accountant appointed as provided for in subsection (b) of section 4-6. The 
town accountant shall be qualified in accordance with the General Laws and shall have a bachelor’s 
degree in accounting and at least 3 three years of prior full-time accounting experience. The town 
accountant shall have all of the powers and duties conferred upon town accountants by the General 
Laws. The town accountant shall be responsible to the finance director and, in turn, to the town 
administrator for the proper performance of the town accountant’s duties.  
 
(e) There shall be a town treasurer appointed as provided for in subsection (b) of section 4-6. The 
treasurer shall be especially fitted by education, training and experience to perform the duties of the 
office. The treasurer shall have all of the powers and duties conferred and imposed upon town 
treasurers by the General Laws, this charter and town by-laws. The town treasurer shall be responsible 
to the finance director and, in turn, to the town administrator for the proper performance of the town 
treasurer’s duties.  
 



Page 16 of 28 

 

(f) There shall be a town collector appointed as provided for in subsection (b) of section 4-6. The town 
collector shall be especially fitted by education, training and experience to perform the duties of the 
office. The town collector shall have all of the powers and duties conferred upon town collectors and tax 
collectors by the General Laws, this charter and town by-laws. The town collector shall be responsible to 
the finance director and, in turn, to the town administrator for the proper performance of the town 
collector’s duties.  
 
Section 5-7: Police Department. 
There shall be a police department which shall be under the control and supervision of a chief of police. 
The chief of police shall be appointed pursuant to clause (b) of section 4-6. The town administrator shall 
be the appointing authority for all police officers under control of the chief of police. The chief of police 
may from time to time make suitable regulations governing the police department, and the officers 
thereof, subject to approval of the town administrator; provided, however, that such regulations shall 
become effective without that approval if the town administrator fails to take action thereon within 
thirty days after the regulations have been submitted to the town administrator by the chief of police. 
The chief of police shall be in immediate control of all town property used by the police department and 
shall be in charge of the police officers. The chief of police shall assign to the police officers their 
respective duties and the police officers shall obey all orders of the chief of police. 
 
Section 5-8: Fire Department. 
There shall be a fire department which shall be under the control and supervision of a chief of the fire 
department. The chief of the fire department shall be appointed pursuant to clause (b) of section 4-6. 
The chief of the fire department shall have charge of extinguishing fires in the town and the protection 
of life and property in case of fire. The chief of the fire department shall purchase and keep in repair all 
property and apparatus used for and by the fire department, with the approval of the town 
administrator. The chief of the fire department shall have and exercise all the powers and discharge all 
the duties conferred or imposed by law upon fire chiefs in towns except as herein provided. The chief of 
the fire department shall appoint such deputy chiefs and such officers and firefighters as the chief 
deems necessary and may remove the same at any time for cause and after a hearing. The chief of the 
fire department shall have full and absolute authority in the administration of the fire department, shall 
make all rules and regulations for its operation, shall report to the town administrator from time to time 
as the administrator may require and shall annually report to the town the condition of the department, 
including any recommendations thereon. In the expenditure of money, the chief of the fire department 
shall be subject to such further limitations as the town may from time to time prescribe. 
 
Article 6 
Other Elected Town Boards and Officers Governmental Bodies and Officials. 
 
Section 6-1: Other Elected Town Boards and Officers Governmental Bodies and Officials.  
(a) Following the adoption of this charter, the only officers officials to be elected shall be the town 
moderator, town clerk and a constable.  
 
(b) Town boards Governmental bodies to be elected in addition to the board of selectmen select board 
shall be:  
 (1) school committee;  
 (2) board of health;  
 (3) planning board;  
 (4) housing authority;  



Page 17 of 28 

 

 (5) recreation authority;  
 (6) trustees of Jonathan Bourne Public  Library;  
 (7) trustees of soldier’s memorials;  
 (8) upper cape cod regional vocational technical school committee; and  
 (9) such town members of regional districts, multi-member bodies governmental bodies and 
authorities as are now or may be established as elective offices by the General Laws, a vote of town 
meeting or an intergovernmental agreement.  
 
Section 6-2: Moderator.  
 There shall be a town moderator who shall be elected at the annual town election for a 1- one year 
term.  
 
The town moderator, as provided in section 2-2, shall be the presiding officer official at town meetings. 
The town moderator shall have all of the powers and duties given to town moderators under the 
Constitution and the General Laws and such additional powers and duties as may be authorized by this 
charter, by by-law or by other town meeting vote.  
 
The town moderator shall perform such other duties as may from time to time be assigned to the office 
of town moderator by by-law or by other town meeting vote.  
 
Section 6-3: Town Clerk. 
There shall be a town clerk who shall be elected at the annual town election for a 3-three year term.  
 
The town clerk shall keep the official records of the town, record vital statistics, issue licenses and shall 
be the clerk of the board of registrars of voters. The town clerk shall have all of the powers and duties of 
town clerks as provided by the General Laws, by this charter, by by-law or by other town meeting vote.  
 
Section 6-4: Constable.  
There shall be a constable elected for a 3-three year term.  
 
The constable shall have all of the powers and duties given to constables under the Constitution and the 
General Laws and such additional powers and duties as may be authorized by this charter, by by-law or 
by other town meeting vote.  
 
Section 6-5: School Committee. 
There shall be a school committee to consist of 7 seven members who shall be elected for 3-three year 
overlapping terms.  
 
The school committee shall have general charge of all public schools in the town and shall have all of the 
powers and duties provided to school committees under the Constitution and the General Laws and 
such additional powers and duties as may be authorized by this charter, by by-law or by other town 
meeting vote.  
 



Page 18 of 28 

 

Section 6-6: Board of Health. 
There shall be a board of health to consist of 5 five members who shall serve for 3-three year 
overlapping terms. The board of health shall be responsible for the formulation and enforcement of 
rules and regulations affecting the environment and the public health. It shall have all of the powers and 
duties given to boards of health under the Constitution and the General Laws and such additional 
powers and duties as may be authorized by this charter, by by-law or by other town meeting vote.  
 
Section 6-7: Planning Board. 
There shall be a planning board to consist of 9 nine members who shall be elected for 3three-year 
overlapping terms.  
 
The planning board shall make studies and prepare plans concerning the development of the town. The 
planning board shall prepare the town local comprehensive plan and submit it to the town meeting. It 
shall hold public hearings and make recommendations to town meeting on all warrant articles seeking 
to amend the town zoning by-laws. The planning board shall have all of the powers and duties given to 
planning boards under the Constitution and the General Laws and such additional powers and duties as 
may be authorized by this charter, by by-law or by other town meeting vote.  
 
Section 6-8: Housing Authority. 
There shall be a housing authority to consist of 5 five members, 4 four of whom shall be elected and 1 
one of whom shall be appointed by the secretary of housing and community development or as 
otherwise provided by law. Housing authority members shall serve for 5-five year terms so arranged 
that as nearly an equal number of terms as possible shall expire each year. 
 
The housing authority shall have all of the powers and duties given to housing authorities under the 
Constitution and the General Laws and such additional powers and duties as may be authorized by this 
charter, by by-law or by other town meeting vote.  
 
Section 6-9: Recreation Authority. 
In accordance with chapter 820 of the acts of 1970, there shall be a Bourne Recreation Authority to 
consist of 5 five members. One member shall be appointed by the governor and 4 four members shall 
be elected for 3-three year terms. The Bourne Recreation Authority shall have all of the powers and 
duties specified in said chapter 820.  
 
Section 6-10: Trustees of the Jonathan Bourne Public Library. 
There shall be a library board to be known as the trustees of the Jonathan Bourne public library to 
consist of 6 six members who shall be elected for 3-three year overlapping terms.  
 

a) The trustees shall have the custody and management of the library and all property of the town 
related thereto.  

b) The selection of the library director consistent with the General Laws; and this charter. 
c) Provide an annual review of performance of the library director and submit to the town 

administrator. 
d) Review and advise the library director regarding preliminary budget prior to being submitted 

to the town administrator’s budget report to the select board. 
e)  All money raised or appropriated by the town for its support and maintenance shall be 

expended by the trustees and all money or property that the town may receive for the library by 
gift or bequest shall be administered by the trustees in accordance with the gift or bequest.  



Page 19 of 28 

 

f) The trustees will establish and act upon their policies and by-laws consistent with the General 
Laws, town by-laws and this charter. 

g) The trustees of the Jonathan Bourne public library shall have all of the powers and duties given 
to boards of library trustees under the Constitution and General Laws and such additional 
powers and duties as may be authorized by this charter, by by-law or by other town meeting 
vote.  
 

Section 6-11: Trustees of the Soldiers’ Memorials. 
In accordance with section 105 of chapter 41 of the General Laws, there shall be a trustees of soldiers’ 
memorials to consist of 6 six trustees, 5 five of whom shall be elected for 3-three year terms so 
arranged that as nearly an equal number of terms as possible shall expire each year and 1 one of whom 
shall be the chairman of the board of selectmen select board.  
 
Section 6-12: Upper Cape Cod Regional Vocational Technical School Committee. 
There shall be 2 two Bourne residents elected to the upper Cape Cod regional vocational technical 
school committee. Members shall serve for terms of 4 four years so arranged that the terms of the 
members shall overlap.  
 
Article 7 
Finance and Fiscal Procedures. 
 
Section 7-1: Budget Process. 
Prior to the annual town meeting and within a time fixed by by-law, the town administrator shall submit 
to the board of selectmen select board a proposed operating budget and a capital program 
improvement plan and capital improvement budget for all town departments, including the school 
department, for the ensuing fiscal year. The school committee budget shall be submitted to the town 
administrator in sufficient time to enable the town administrator to consider the effect of the school 
department’s requested appropriation on the total town budget and make recommendations on 
same. The proposed budget shall be accompanied by a budget message and supporting documents. The 
budget message shall explain the budget both in fiscal terms and in terms of work programs expected 
outcomes, delivery of services, and initiatives. The proposed budget shall be balanced and shall show 
both proposed expenditures and anticipated revenue. The proposed budget shall provide a complete 
fiscal plan of all town funds and activities and shall be in the form the town administrator deems 
desirable or as the board of selectmen select board requires. The proposed budget shall include a listing 
of the funds requested by town departments and agencies. The board of selectmen select board shall 
review the proposed budget and capital program improvement plan and make such changes as the 
board deems appropriate prior to transmitting the budget and capital improvement plan to the finance 
committee. The school committee budget shall be submitted to the town administrator in sufficient 
time to enable the town administrator to consider the effect of the school department’s requested 
appropriation on the total town budget and make recommendations on same.  
 
Section 7-2: Capital Improvement Program Plan and Capital Improvement Budget. 
The town administrator, in conjunction with any committee established for such purpose, shall annually 
submit a capital improvement program plan to the board of selectmen select board ten days prior to 
the date fixed by by-law and prior to the submission of the operating budget. The capital improvement 
plan shall include a clear summary of its contents, an itemization of all capital improvements, including 
those of the school department, proposed to be undertaken during the next 5 five fiscal years with 
supporting data, cost estimates, methods of financing and recommended time schedules and the 



Page 20 of 28 

 

estimated annual cost of operating and maintaining the facilities included. The first year’s budget would 
be the capital budget and include the estimated annual cost of operating and maintaining the facilities 
included. 
 
Section 7-3: Long-Term Financial Forecast. 
The town administrator shall prepare annually, in a format the town administrator deems desirable or 
as the select board requires, a 5 five year financial forecast of town revenue, expenditures and general 
financial condition of the town which shall be submitted to the Board of Selectmen select board as part 
of the annual budget message. The forecast shall include, but not be limited to, the identification of 
factors which impact the financial condition of the town; revenue and expenditure trends; potential 
sources of new or expanded revenues and any long or short term actions which may be taken that will 
enhance the financial condition of the town. The forecast shall be submitted to the board of selectmen 
select board and the board of selectmen select board shall make it available to the public for inspection. 
 
Section 7-4: Finance Committee Action. 
The board of selectmen select board shall submit the operating budget and the capital improvement 
program plan and capital improvement budget to the finance committee by a date fixed by by-law. The 
finance committee, upon receipt of the operating and capital improvement program plan and capital 
improvement budget from the board of selectmen select board, shall consider in public meetings the 
detailed expenditures for each town department and agency and shall conduct 1 one or more public 
hearings on the proposed operating and capital improvement budgets, including the school budget. The 
finance committee shall issue its recommendations in a detailed written report, which shall include the 
fiscal and tax implications of the proposed budget, a statement outlining its support or opposition to the 
proposed budget or any sections thereof and its vote, by roll call, on all warrant articles.  
 
The finance committee shall make copies of its report available to the voters in the town hall and the 
public library at least 21 20 days before the scheduled date of the town meeting. The report shall be 
prepared in sufficient time to be incorporated into the annual town meeting voter handbook.  
 
The finance committee may request the town administrator to provide necessary information from any 
town agency and the town administrator shall promptly respond to such requests. The office of the 
town administrator shall provide staff support to the finance committee in issuing its recommendations 
on the operating budget and capital improvement program budget. The budget to be acted upon by the 
town meeting shall be the budget approved by the board of selectmen select board.  
 
Section 7-5: Approval of Warrants for Payment. 
Warrants for payments of town funds, authorized and prepared by the town accountant, shall be 
submitted to the town administrator for approval. The approval of any such warrant by the town 
administrator shall be sufficient authority to authorize payment by the town treasurer. 
 
Article 8 
General Provisions. 
 
Section 8-1: Charter Changes.  
 (a) This charter may be replaced, revised or amended in accordance with the procedures made 
available by article LXXXIX of the amendments to the Constitution of the Commonwealth and any 
legislation enacted to implement said article LXXXIX.  
 



Page 21 of 28 

 

(b) At least once every 5 five years a special committee shall be appointed by the board of selectmen 
select board to review the charter and make a report to the town meeting concerning any proposed 
amendments or revisions which the committee deems necessary. The committee shall be appointed 
immediately following an annual town meeting and shall make its report at the next annual town 
meeting. The select board may extend time to the charter review committee by majority vote to meet 
the duties and responsibilities of article LXXXIX enacted to implement said article LXXXIX. 
 
Section 8-2: Severability. 
The provisions of this charter shall be severable. If any provision of the charter is held to be invalid the 
other provisions of the charter shall not be affected thereby. If the application of the charter or any of 
its provisions to any person or circumstance is held to be invalid, the application of the charter and its 
provisions to other persons and circumstances shall not be affected thereby.  
 
Section 8-3: Specific Provisions Prevail. 
To the extent that any specific provision of the charter shall conflict with any provision expressed in 
general terms, the specific provision shall prevail.  
 
Section 8-4: References to General Laws. 
All references to General Laws contained in the charter refer to the General Laws of the commonwealth. 
 
Section 8-5: Elections. 
The election of town officers officials and referendum questions shall be acted upon and determined by 
voters on official ballots, without party designation, on the date fixed in the by-laws of the town.  
 
All elections conducted pursuant to this charter shall be conducted in accordance with the election laws 
of the commonwealth.  
 
Section 8-6: Procedures for Multiple Member Bodies Governmental Bodies. 
(a) All multiple member bodies governmental bodies of the town whether elected, appointed or 
otherwise constituted shall meet at such times and in places open to the public within the town as they 
may by their own rules prescribe. Special meetings of a multiple member body governmental body shall 
be held at the call of the respective chairman or by a majority of the members thereof. Public posting of 
all meetings shall be made in accordance with the open meeting laws. The meetings of a multiple 
member body shall be open to the public and the press, except as may otherwise be authorized by law.  
 
(b) A majority of the members of a multiple member body governmental bodies shall constitute a 
quorum but a smaller number may adjourn from time to time unless otherwise provided by law.  
 
(c) Each multiple member body governmental body shall provide for the keeping of the minutes of its 
proceedings. The Open Meeting Law requires public bodies to create and approve minutes in a timely 
manner. A “timey manner” is considered to be within the next three public body meetings or 30 days 
from the date of the meeting, whichever is later, unless the public body can show good cause for 
further delay. The minutes shall be a public record and a copy of the minutes shall be filed with the 
office of the town clerk, once approved by the governmental body as outlined above. 
 
 
 



Page 22 of 28 

 

(d) Meetings of the board of selectmen select board, the school committee, the board of health and the 
planning board shall, if possible, be televised, recorded, livestreamed or broadcasted on the local cable 
channel or streamed recorded and posted on the town’s website. The town shall choose the most 
effective method but technical difficulties with equipment shall not cause a meeting to be postponed. 
 
Section 8-7: Computation of Time. 
In computing times under this charter, if 7 days or less, only business days shall be counted. If 
computing more than 7 days, every day shall be counted “days” will be defined as calendar days unless 
otherwise specified.  
 
Section 8-8: Number and Gender. 
Words importing the singular number may extend and be applied to several persons or things. Words 
importing the plural number may include the singular and words importing the masculine gender shall 
include the feminine gender. 
 
Section 8-9: Definitions. 
For the purposes of this charter, the following words shall, unless the context clearly requires otherwise, 
have the following meanings:- 
 
“Charter”, this charter and any amendments to it made through any of the methods provided under 
Article LXXXIX of the amendments to the Constitution of the Commonwealth. 
 
“Goal”, the desired outcome of a policy, program or other action. 
 
“Governmental Body”, means any federal, state, local, municipal or other government; any 
governmental, regulatory or administrative agency, commission or other authority lawfully exercising 
or entitled to exercise any administrative, executive, judicial, legislative, police, regulatory or taxing 
authority or power; and any court or governmental tribunal. 
 
“Gender Neutrality”, any reference to gender in this charter shall be construed as meaning any 
person, people, individual or individuals. 
 
“Library”, the Jonathan Bourne public library and any branch thereof that may be established.  
 
“ Local Comprehensive Plan”, is an important planning tool used to guide the growth and direction of 
the town while balancing a wide variety of needs, including economic growth, protection of 
environmental resources, quality of life and community character. 
 
“Local newspaper”, a newspaper of general circulation within the town.  
 
“Majority vote”, as to a town meeting, a majority of those present and voting; as to a multiple member 
body, the affirmative vote of a majority of all members present and voting shall be necessary to adopt 
any motion, order, appointment or approval or disapproval or to take any action not entirely procedural 
in nature, unless otherwise provided by law. 
 
“Multiple member body”, a board, commission or committee consisting of 2 or more persons, whether 
elected or appointed.  
 



Page 23 of 28 

 

“Policy”, a statement of a preferred practice 
 
“Strategic Plan”, the long-term vision, goals and objectives for the town of Bourne codified in a 
document accepted by the select board. 
  
“Town”, the town of Bourne.  
 
“Town agency”, a board, commission, committee, department or office of town government, whether 
elected, appointed or otherwise constituted.  
 
“Town meeting”, the town meeting of the town of Bourne established in article 2.  
 
“Town officer official”, an elected or appointed official of the town who, in the performance of that 
person’s official duties, exercises some portion of the sovereign power of the town, whether great or 
small; provided, however, that a person may be a town official whether or not that person receives 
compensation for his services.  
 
“Voter handbook”, the voter handbook established in subsection (c) of section 2-5 and referenced in 
section 7-4.  
 
“Voters”, the registered voters of the town.  
 
Section 8-10: Rules and Regulations. 
 A copy of any rules and regulations adopted by a town agency shall be filed in the office of the town 
clerk and made available for review by any person who requests such information.  
 
Article 9 
 Recall Provisions. 
 
Section 9-1: Application. 
Any person who holds elective office in the town of Bourne may be recalled therefrom by the registered 
voters of the town in the manner provided herein.  
 
Section 9-2: Recall Petition. 
Any 250 or more qualified voters of the town may file with the town clerk an affidavit containing the 
name of the elected official sought to be recalled and a statement of the grounds for recall. Within 10 
working days thereafter, the town clerk shall deliver to any 1 one or more of the voters making such 
affidavit a sufficient number of copies of petition blanks demanding such recall. The blanks shall be 
issued by the town clerk, with the town clerk’s signature and official seal attached thereto. The blanks 
shall be dated and addressed to the board of selectmen select board shall contain the name of the 
elected official sought to be recalled, the office from which recall is sought and the grounds for recall as 
stated in the affidavit and shall demand the election of a successor to the office. A copy of the petition 
shall be entered in a record book to be kept in the office of the town clerk. The recall petition shall be 
returned and filed with the town clerk within 45 days after its issuance. The petition, before being 
returned and filed with the town clerk, shall be signed by not less than 10 per cent of the qualified 
voters as of the most recent annual town election and to every signature shall be added the place of 
residence of the signer, including the street and number, if any. The town clerk shall, within 5 five 
working days following the date of such filing, submit the petition to the registrars of voters and the 



Page 24 of 28 

 

registrars shall forthwith verify thereon the number of signatures which are names of registered voters 
as of the date of the most recent town election.  
 
Section 9-3: Recall Election. 
If the petition shall be found and certified by the town clerk to be sufficient, the town clerk shall submit 
it with the town clerk’s certification to the board of selectmen select board without delay. The board of 
selectmen select board shall forthwith give written notice of receipt of the certificate to the official 
sought to be recalled. If the official does not resign within 5 five calendar days after receipt of the 
written notice, the board of selectmen select board shall order a recall election to be held on a date 
fixed by the board which shall be not less than 60 and not more than 90 days after the date of the town 
clerk’s certificate that a sufficient petition has been filed; provided, however, that if any other town 
election is scheduled to be held within 120 days after the date of the certificate, the board of selectmen 
select board may, at its discretion, postpone the holding of the recall election to the date of the other 
town election. If a vacancy occurs in the office after a recall election has been ordered by the board of 
selectmen select board, the election shall proceed as provided in this section.  
 
Section 9-4: Nomination of Candidates.  
Any officer official whose recall is sought may be a candidate to succeed himself for re-election to the 
same office, and, unless he the individual requests otherwise in writing, the town clerk shall place that 
officer’s official’s name on the ballot without nomination. The nomination of other candidates, the 
publication of the warrant for the recall election and the conduct of the same shall all be in accordance 
with the General Laws related to town elections unless otherwise provided in this article.  
 
Section 9-5: Incumbent Status. 
The incumbent shall continue to perform the duties of the office until the recall election. If the official is 
not recalled, the official shall continue in office for the remainder of the unexpired term, subject to 
recall as before, except as provided in section 9-7. If the official is recalled, the official shall be deemed 
removed upon the qualification of the successor, who shall serve for the balance of the unexpired term 
of the official recalled. If the successor fails to qualify within 5 five working days after receiving 
notification of election, the incumbent shall thereupon be removed and the office vacant.  
 
Section 9-6: Propositions on Ballot. 
Ballots used in a recall election shall state the following propositions in the order indicated:  
 
For the recall of (name of officer official)  
 
Against the recall of (name of officer official)  
 
Adjacent to each proposition there shall be a place to vote for either of the propositions. After the 
propositions shall appear the word "Candidates", the directions to voters required by section 42 of 
chapter 54 of the General Laws and, beneath this, the names of the candidates nominated as 
hereinbefore provided. If the elected official who is the subject of the recall petition is a candidate, that 
person’s name shall be the first listed and all others shall be listed alphabetically. If the majority of the 
votes cast upon the question of recall is in the affirmative, the official shall be deemed to be recalled 
and the candidate receiving the highest number of votes shall be declared elected. If a majority of the 
votes cast upon the question of recall is in the negative, the ballots for recall need not be counted.  
 
 



Page 25 of 28 

 

Section 9-7: Time Limitation. 
No recall petition shall be accepted by the town for filing against an elected official within 6 six months 
after that official takes office and no recall petition shall be accepted against an elected official who was 
subjected to a recall petition and not removed thereby until at least 6 six months after that recall 
election.  
 
Section 9-8: Limit on Recalled Official. 
No person who has been recalled from office or who has resigned from office while recall proceedings 
were pending against that person shall be elected or appointed to a town office within 1 one year after 
such recall or resignation.  
 
Article 10 
Transitional Provisions. 
 
Section 10-1: Continuation of Existing Laws. 
All General Laws, special laws, town by-laws, town meeting votes and rules and regulations of or 
pertaining to the town that are in force when this charter takes effect and not specifically repealed 
herein shall continue in full force and effect until amended or rescinded or until they expire by operation 
of law. Notwithstanding any general or special law to the contrary, if specific provisions of this charter 
conflict with any town by-laws, rules, regulations, orders, special acts and acceptances of General Laws, 
the charter provisions shall control.  
 
Section 10-2: Continuation of Government. 
Except as specifically provided in this charter, all town agencies shall continue in existence and all town 
employees and officers officials shall continue to perform their duties until successors to their 
respective positions are duly appointed or elected or their duties have been transferred.  
 
Section 10-3: Continuation of Personnel. 
Any person holding a town office or employment shall retain such office or employment and shall 
continue to perform the duties of that office or employment until provisions shall have been made in 
accordance with this charter for the performance of those duties by another person or agency. No 
person in the permanent full-time service or employment of the town shall forfeit his their pay grade or 
time in service. Each such person shall be retained in a capacity as similar to his their former capacity as 
is practical.  
 
Section 10-4: Transfer of Records and Property. 
All records, property and equipment whatsoever of any agency or part thereof, the powers and duties of 
which are assigned in whole or in part to another agency, shall be transferred forthwith to such assigned 
agency.  
 
Section 10-5: Effective Date. 
 



Page 26 of 28 

 

Article 11 
Charter Compliance Committee. 
 
There shall be a charter compliance committee to consist of 7 seven members who shall be appointed 
by the town moderator for 3-three  year overlapping terms, so arranged that the term of not more than 
3 three members shall expire each year.  No appointee shall be a town employee or a member of an 
existing board or committee governmental body governed by the charter.  
 
The committee shall take action only after receiving a written complaint, filed by 1 one or more voters 
of the town, alleging a violation of this charter by reason of an act or a failure to act by the town 
administrator, the board of selectmen select board , the school committee, the finance committee or a 
member of such board or committee governmental body. 
 
The complaint shall state the specific section of this charter that is the subject of the violation, the 
individual, or committee governmental body responsible for the violation and the act or failure to act 
resulting in the violation. The complaint shall be filed with the town clerk who shall immediately send, 
via certified mail, return receipt requested, a copy to each member of the committee.  
 
Within 3 three weeks after receipt of the complaint by the town clerk, the committee shall vote whether 
to dismiss the complaint without further action. If the committee so votes, the chairman shall give 
written notification to the town clerk. If the committee votes to not dismiss the complaint, the chairman 
shall set a time and date for a hearing and mail notice of the hearing to the town clerk, the complainants 
and the individual, board or committee or governmental body named in the complaint. The town clerk 
shall post and publish the notice in a newspaper of general circulation for at least 7 seven days before 
the hearing date. The hearing shall occur within 60 days after the date on which the complaint was 
received by the town clerk. At the hearing, the committee shall allow any person to address the 
committee on the merits of the complaint.  
 
Within 3 three weeks after the hearing, the committee shall vote on whether there has been a violation 
of this charter as alleged in the complaint and shall mail a notice of its decision to the complainant, to 
the individual, board or committee or governmental body  named in the complaint and to the town 
clerk. The town clerk shall post a copy of the decision at the town hall and on the town’s website.  
 
If the committee determines that there has been a violation of this charter as alleged by the complaint, 
and if, following its vote, there continues to be a violation, the committee may contact town counsel 
who may file a complaint on behalf of the town with the superior court. Nothing in this article shall limit 
the right to seek enforcement of this charter as otherwise provided by law.  
 
SECTION 2. This act shall take effect upon its passage. 
 
 
 
Charter Review Committee Amendments Approved, October 20, 2021. 



Page 27 of 28 

 

 
APPENDIX 

 
Article 1:  Section 3 Division of Powers Amended by Article 21, 2011 ATM 
 
Article 2: Section 2-5 Initiation of Warrant Articles-subsection (a-3) Amended by Article 22, 2011 ATM 
 Section 2-5 Initiation of Warrant Articles-subsections (b) and (c) Amended by Article 21, 2011 

ATM 
 Section 2-5 Initiation of Warrant Articles-subsections (b) and (c) Amended by Article 29, 2016 

ATM 
 
Article 3: Section 3-1 Term of Office, Composition Amended by Article 22, 2011 ATM 
 Section 3-3 Policy Role Amended by Ch. 85, Acts 2007 
 Section 3-3 Policy Role Amended by Article 22 2011 ATM 
 Section 3-3 Policy Role Amended by Article 29 2016 ATM 
 Section 3-5 Appointing Powers Amended by Article 29 2016 ATM 
     Section 3-6 Prohibitions Amended by Ch. 85, Acts 2007 
 Section 3-6 Prohibitions Amended by Article 22, 2011 ATM 
 Section 3-6 Prohibitions-subsections (a) (b) and (c) Amended by Article 29, 2016 ATM 
              Section 3-8 Rules of Procedure Amended by Ch. 85, Acts 2007 
 Section 3-8 Rules of Procedure Amended by Article 22, 2011 ATM 
 
Article 4:  Section 4-1 Appointment, Qualification, Term Amended by Ch. 85, Acts 2007 
 Section 4-1 Appointment; Qualification; Term Amended by Article 21, 2011 ATM 
 Section 4-1 Appointment; Qualification; Term Amended by Article 22, 2011 ATM 
 Section 4-1 Appointment; Qualification; Term Amended by Article 29, 2016 ATM 

Section 4-2 Relationship of the Town Administrator and the Board of Selectmen Amended by 
Ch. 85, Acts 2007 

                 Section 4-4 Temporary Absence Amended by Ch. 85, Acts 2007 
 Section 4-4 Temporary Absence Amended by Article 21, 2011 ATM 
 Section 4-4 Temporary Absence Amended by Article 29, 2016 ATM 
 Section 4-6 (b) Powers and Duties Amended by Ch. 85, Acts 2007 
 Section 4-6 Powers and Duties-subsections (b) Amended by Article 21, 2011 ATM 
 Section 4-6 (c) Stricken Amended by Ch. 85, Acts 2007 
 Section 4-6 Powers and Duties Amended by Article 22, 2011 ATM 
 Section 4-6 Powers and Duties-subsections (c) (f) and (m) Amended by Article 29, 2016 ATM 
  
Article 5:  Section 5-1 Table of Organization Amended by Article 29, 2016 ATM 
 Section 5-2 Organization of Town Government Amended by Ch. 85, Acts 2007 
 Section 5-2 Organization of Town Government Amended by Article 21, 2011 ATM 
 Section 5-3 Public Hearing and Effective Date Amended by Article 21, 2011 ATM 

Section 5-4 Department of Public Works-subsection (b) Amended by Article 21, 2011 ATM 
Section 5-5 Department of Integrated Solid Waste Management-subsection (c) Amended by 
Article 21, 2011 ATM 

                 Section 5-6 Department of Finance (a) 11 Amended by Ch. 85, Acts 2007 
                 Section 5-6 Department of Finance (b) 3 Amended by Ch. 85, Acts 2007 

Section 5-6 Department of Finance-subsections (b) through (f) Amended by Article 21, 2011 
ATM 



Page 28 of 28 

 

Section 5-7 Police Department New Section Added by Article 29, 2016 
Section 5-7 Fire Department New Section Added by Article 29, 2016 

 
Article 6: Section 6-4 Constable Amended by Article 21, 2011 ATM 
 Section 6-8 Housing Authority Amended by Article 29, 2016 ATM 
 
Article 7: Section 7-2 Capital Improvement Program and Capital Budget Amended by Article 21, 2011 

ATM 
Section 7-3 Long Term Financial Forecast Amended by Article 29, 2016 

 
Article 8:  Section 8-1 Charter Changes-subsection (b) Amended by Article 21, 2011 ATM 
 Section 8-6 Procedures for Multiple Member Bodies Amended by Article 22, 2011 ATM 
 Section 8-6 Procedures for Multiple Member Bodies Amended by Article 29, 2016 ATM 
 Section 8-7 Computation of Time Amended by Article 21, 2011 ATM 
 Section 8-9 Definitions-subsection (g) Amended by Article 21, 2011 ATM 
 Section 8-9 Definitions Amended by Article 29, 2016 ATM 
 
Article 9:  Section 9-2 Recall Petition Amended by Ch. 85, Acts 2007 
 Section 9-2 Recall Petition Amended by Article 21, 2011 ATM 
 Section 9-3 Recall Election Amended by Article 21, 2011 ATM 
 Section 9-5 Incumbent Status Amended by Article 21, 2011 ATM 
 Section 9-8 Limit on Recalled Official Amended by Article 21, 2011 ATM 
 

Article 10:  Section 10-5 Effective Date Amended by Article 21, 2011 ATM- 
 

Article 11:  Charter Compliance Committee - New Article Added by Ch. 85, Acts 2007 
Article 11:  Charter Compliance Committee Amended by Article 21, 2011 ATM 
Article 11:  Charter Compliance Committee Amended by Article 16, 2014 ATM 
 
 



Town of Bourne 
2020 Charter 

Review Committee  
                  

 

 
December 01,  2021 

 

Bourne Select Board 

 

Dear Select Board Members: 

Please find attached the following documents: 

Volumes ONE and TWO consisting of two 3-inch binders containing all relevant materials 
associated with the completion of the 2020 Charter Review Committee of the Bourne Charter 
to support its recommendations as unanimously adopted at the November 15, 2021 Special 
Town Meeting. 

 

On behalf of the Committee, 

Stephen F. Mealy 

Stephen Mealy, Chairperson 
 

Renee Gratis, Vice Chairperson 

Anne-Marie Siroonian, Administrative Clerk 

Barbara Princiotta, Recording Clerk 

Michael Carlowicz 

Griffin Girard 

Joseph Gordon 

  



Book 1 of 2 

2020 Bourne Charter Review Committee Background Section 1, Book 1 

 2020 Committee Process Overview 

2020 Charter Committee Specific Charge 

 Member Meeting Attendance 

Chronology of Committee Meeting Interviews  Section 2, Book 1 

 Chronology of Interviews 

Chronology of Charter Article Reviews 

Chairman’s Interview Notes     Section 3, Book 1 

Interview Questions 

Chairman’s Meeting Notes, By Article   Section 4, Book 1 

Committee Interim Reports     Section 5, Book 1 

 Interim to Select Board February 02, 2021 

 Interim to Annual Town Meeting May 03, 2021 

Final Report to STM, November 15, 2021   Section 6, Book 1 

Warrant Articles for STM, November 15, 2021  Section 7, Book 1 

Summary of Changes for Legislature, DRAFT   Section 8, Book 1 

Committee Recorded Changes to Charter, by Article Section 9, Book 1 

 2021.03.03 

 2021.03.31 

 2021.04.28 

Survey, Data, Results      Section 10, Book 1 

Email Received      Section 11, Book 1 

 

 

 

 



Book 2 of 2 

Legal Service Requests to Town Counsel   Section 1, Book 2 

Town Counsel Response to Review Committee  Section 2, Book 2 

Town Counsel Response, Meeting Notes   Section 3, Book 1 

2020 Charter Review Committee Agendas   Section 4, Book 2 

2020 Charter Review Committee Meeting Minutes  Section 5, Book 2 

Town of Bourne Charter     Section 6, Book 2 

 As of 2016 Annual Town Meeting 

2015 Charter Review Committee Report to    Section 7, Book 2 

  Town Meeting, April 14, 2016 

2015 Charter Review Committee Warrant Article 29 

 2016 Annual Town Meeting   

 2015 Charter Review Committee Report 

Table of Contents, Bourne By-Laws as of     Section 8, Book 2 

As Approved, May 2019 STM, ATM  

Town of Bourne Organizational Charts   Section 9, Book 2 

Bourne Select Board Rules of Procedures   Section 10, Book 2 

 As of September 25, 2018 

FY-22 Budget Timeline, Financial Calendar   Section 11, Book 2 

 April, 2021 

Open Meeting Law, Executive Sessions   Section 12, Book 2 

 



 

 

This	project	has	been	funded,	in	whole	or	in	part,	by	the	U.S.	Environmental	Protection	Agency’s	Southeast	New	England	Program	under	
Assistance	Agreement	SE-00A00655-0.	The	contents	of	the	document	do	not	necessarily	reflect	the	views	and	policies	of	the	U.S	
Environmental	Protection	Agency,	nor	does	the	U.S.	EPA	endorse	trade	names	or	recommend	the	use	of	any	products,	services	or	
enterprises	mentioned	in	this	document	

 

  

Produced by the Southeast New 
England Program (SNEP) 
Network 

December 2021 

Bourne, MA:  
Climate Resilience 
Investment System & 
Implementation Plan 
 

The SNEP Network is administered by: 
New England Environmental Finance Center 
University of Southern Maine, UMaine System 
www.snepnetwork.org | TEL: 207-228-81-64 



DRAFT – DO NOT CITE – DO NOT DISTRIBUTE 

 
1	

Background. The	following	report	was	produced	by	Throwe	Environmental,	LLC,	on	behalf	of	
the	Southeast	New	England	Program	(SNEP)	Technical	Assistance	Network	(“the	SNEP	Network”).	
The	SNEP	Network	is	comprised	of	over	15	different	partner	organizations	from	across	the	region.	
It	offers	a	full	complement	of	technical	and	financial	services	to	communities	in	support	of	
leadership	development	and	peer-to-peer	learning.	The	goal	of	SNEP	is	to	help	communities	
understand	the	stormwater	management	challenges	they	face	in	light	of	a	changing	climate	and	
how	to	overcome	implementation	barriers	through	capacity	building	and	innovative	financing	
systems.	

In	March	2020,	the	SNEP	Network	released	a	"Call	for	Participants”	to	offer	direct	technical,	
financial,	and	training	assistance	to	municipalities,	tribes,	and	non-profits	in	the	SNEP	watershed.	
Assistance	was	offered	through	the	SNEP	Network's	existing	capacity	and	members	of	its	pre-
approved	consultant	pool.	Through	a	competitive	process,	the	Town	of	Bourne,	Massachusetts	
(“Bourne”	or	“the	Town”)	was	one	of	the	initial	twelve	applications	approved	to	receive	technical	
assistance.	The	SNEP	Network’s	project	with	Bourne	officially	launched	in	July	2020	and	was	
implemented	in	two	phases.	Phase	1	was	completed	in	January	2021.	It	provided	an	assessment	of	
the	Town’s	resilience	programs,	focusing	specifically	on	the	impacts	that	climate	change	will	have	
on	stormwater,	flooding,	and	drainage	management.	The	final	Phase	1	project	report	included	a	
suite	of	recommendations	focused	on	the	necessary	steps	and	actions	for	establishing	and	
expanding	a	sustainable	climate	resilience	planning-to-action	strategy.	

Phase	2,	which	began	in	Spring	2021	and	was	completed	in	October	2021,	was	designed	to	provide	
the	Town	of	Bourne	with	a	more	thorough	understanding	of	the	actions	and	resources	that	will	be	
necessary	to	achieve	the	Town’s	resilience	vision	in	the	future.	The	SNEP	Project	Team	and	Town	
leaders	worked	collaboratively	to	prepare	two	products.	The	team	first	created	the	Planning	to	
Action:	Climate	Toolkit	(PACT)	to	provide	a	standardized	approach	and	process	for	identifying	
assets,	assessing	climate	risk,	and	prioritizing	mitigation	actions	and	projects.	Using	the	Toolkit	as	a	
framework,	the	team	then	drafted	a	suite	of	next	steps	and	recommendations	to	provide	more	
detail	regarding	the	resources	and	next	steps	needed	to	establish	a	comprehensive	resilience	
financing	system.		

This	report	serves	as	a	culmination	of	the	SNEP	Project	Team’s	engagement	in	the	Town	of	Bourne.	
Part	1	of	this	report	summarizes	the	capacity	assessment	and	the	corresponding	recommendations	
prepared	in	Phase	1.	It	also	describes	the	components	of	PACT.	Part	2	provides	the	expanded	
recommendations	produced	in	Phase	2,	as	well	as	next	steps.  

PART 1: BOURNE CLIMATE RESILIENCE ACTION STRATEGY.  

The	purpose	of	Phase	1	of	the	Climate	Resilience	Financing	Assessment	Project	was	to	provide	local	
leaders	with	the	framework	for	a	financing	plan	of	action	to	address	resilience	infrastructure	needs	
over	time.	The	SNEP	Project	Team,	led	by	the	team	at	Throwe	Environmental,	worked	in	direct	
partnership	with	Bourne,	MA	leaders	to	address	climate	hazards	and	to	identify	opportunities	to	
improve	community	resilience	to	anticipated	climate	impacts.	The	team	conducted	a	detailed	
program	assessment	to	identify	the	strengths	and	weaknesses	of	the	Town’s	existing	resilience	
capacity	and	the	conditions	necessary	for	effectively	financing	critical	infrastructure	needs.		

The	SNEP	Project	Team	used	an	assessment	process	based	on	the	core	components	of	the	Coastal	
Resilience	Action	Strategy.	It	was	designed	to	enable	Bourne	leaders	to	identify	the	necessary	



DRAFT – DO NOT CITE – DO NOT DISTRIBUTE 

 
2	

conditions	to	effectively	finance	critical	infrastructure	needs	and	to	evaluate	the	Town’s	readiness	
to	address	those	needs.	In	addition,	the	assessment	was	designed	to	be	a	dynamic	system	and	
process,	thereby	continually	addressing	how	to	enable	conditions	necessary	to	attract	and	incentive	
public	and	private	investment.	These	enabling	conditions	are	as	varied	and	unique	as	the	potential	
projects	themselves.	However,	four	key	processes	are	common	to	virtually	all	resilience	planning	
and	financing	systems.	These	are	(1)	leadership	and	community	development;	(2)	climate	risk	and	
vulnerability	assessments;	(3)	resilience	planning	and	project	portfolio	development;	and	(4)	
funding,	financing,	and	investment.	These	processes	serve	as	the	foundation	for	PACT,	the	
Resilience	Financing	Framework	(see	Fig.	1),	and	the	team’s	assessment	and	recommendations	to	
the	Town	of	Bourne.		

	

Leadership and Community Development.  A	clear	vision	for	the	future	is	a	foundational	
component	of	the	resilience	financing	process.	Resilience	planning	should	be	community-led	and	
comprehensive,	while	also	serving	as	a	strategy	for	future	implementation	and	financing	activities.	
To	that	end,	strong	community	leadership	is	essential	to	attract	and	mobilize	investments	in	
resilience.				

The	first	step	in	the	resilience	assessment	process	is	to	understand	what	resilience	is,	what	the	
threats	to	the	community	are,	and	the	appropriateness	of	plans	for	becoming	more	resilient	in	the	
future.		This	requires	defining	resilience	in	a	way	that	is	community-specific	and	reflects	the	
anticipated	risks,	future	goals,	and	expected	outcomes	of	its	citizens.	This	process	focuses	on	three	
key	issues:	what	is	needed,	what	is	valued,	and	what	are	the	necessary	systems.		

 

Figure 1: Resilience Financing Framework (Source: Throwe Environmental) 



DRAFT – DO NOT CITE – DO NOT DISTRIBUTE 

 
3	

Soak Up the Rain Webinar. The	SNEP	Project	Team	provided	Bourne	with	a	large-scale	
leadership	engagement	opportunity	through	the	EPA	Region	1	“Soak	up	the	Rain”	webinar	
program.	This	monthly	webinar	series	highlights	innovative	approaches	to	addressing	stormwater	
quality	and	quantity	across	New	England,	bringing	these	case	studies	to	a	national	audience.	In	
conjunction	with	EPA	program	staff,	Throwe	Environmental	developed	an	August	2021	webinar,	
entitled	“Addressing	Stormwater	Flooding	through	Resilience	Action	Strategies	and	Sustainable	
Financing,”	that	featured	two	SNEP	Network	technical	assistance	projects	in	Portsmouth,	RI,	and	
Bourne,	MA.	Former	Bourne	Town	Administrator	Anthony	Schiavi	and	Town	Engineering	
Technician	Timothy	Lydon	were	featured	as	community	panelists	representing	Bourne.	The	
webinar	highlighted	the	innovative	approach	of	the	Bourne/SNEP	Network	project,	as	well	as	the	
strong	record	of	community	and	leadership	engagement	in	the	Town.	Once	publicly	available,	the	
webinar	recording	will	be	linked	here.	

Summary of Findings: Leadership and Community Development. The	Town’s	recently	
completed	Hazard	Mitigation	Plan	and	Local	Comprehensive	Plan	are	important	for	advancing	the	
resilience	planning	process.	However,	neither	plan	directly	defines	resilience	in	a	uniform	and	
community-specific	way.	The	community	has	noted	that	the	Town	would	welcome	a	clear	definition	
for	resilience	that	reflects	its	vision,	and	the	Select	Board	has	expressed	openness	to	developing	one	
internally.		

Climate Risk and Vulnerability Analysis. Key	to	the	resilience	planning	process	is	identifying	
and	assessing	a	community’s	future	climate	risks.	A	climate	hazard	becomes	a	climate	risk	when	
inhabitants	and/or	assets	are	exposed	to	and	vulnerable	to	a	particular	hazard.		

The	Town	can	improve	its	resilience	and	its	adaptive	capacity	to	climate-related	shocks	and	
stresses	by	implementing	climate	adaptation	actions.	However,	it	is	first	necessary	to	develop	a	
sound	understanding	of	context-specific	climate	risks	before	developing	such	actions.		

§ Climate change impacts.	In	coastal	communities,	these	changes	will	likely	include	
increased	coastal	flooding;	sea-level	rise;	intensified	storms;	more	frequent	drought	and	
heat	waves;	changes	in	the	distribution	of	disease	vectors;	and	increased	displacement	
and	migration.1		

§ Other environmental crises.	The	interactions	between	climate	change	and	existing	
environmental	needs	will	only	complicate	the	resilience	financing	challenges	in	coastal	
communities.	For	example,	climate	change	and	stormwater	management	in	Bourne	will	
have	tremendous	impacts	on	each	other,	as	well	as	the	community-at-large,	in	the	
future.	This	means	the	two	issues	must	be	addressed	collectively.2	

§ Economic changes.	While	threats	to	physical	systems	must	be	considered	in	the	
context	of	climate	resilience,	so	too	must	the	threats	to	economic	systems.	For	example,	
the	rise	or	collapse	of	key	industries;	changes	in	financial	or	regulatory	systems;	and	
changes	in	wealth	distribution	can	have	tremendous	impacts	on	local	economies.	While	
these	impacts	will	often	occur	outside	the	framework	of	climate	change,	the	reality	of	a	
changing	climate	will	almost	certainly	be	an	influencing	factor.3		

 
1 Ibid 
2 Ibid 
3 Ibid 



DRAFT – DO NOT CITE – DO NOT DISTRIBUTE 

 
4	

§ Social risks.	Complex	social	challenges	will	also	be	compounded	by	climate	change.	
Climate	change	will	further	disadvantage	marginalized	communities.	To	truly	address	
resilience,	communities	must	consider	how	they	will	ensure	their	most	at-risk	
populations	are	protected	and	strengthened.	

Summary of Findings: Climate Risk and Vulnerability Analysis. Bourne’s	thorough	
understanding	of	its	community	hazards	(erosion	and	shoreline	change,	flooding,	extreme	storms,	
high	winds,	severe	winter	weather,	and	sea-level	rise)	are	well-documented	in	its	2018	Hazard	
Mitigation	Plan	update.	Town	officials	have	focused	additional	energy	and	resources	on	evaluating	
the	impacts	of	flood	risks	and	sea-level	rise	on	Bourne’s	important	historic	and	cultural	resources.	
More	information	is	needed	on	specific	threats	that	could	worsen	in	the	face	of	a	changing	climate	
and	on	the	full	spectrum	of	specific	assets	that	are	vulnerable	to	climate	hazards.	The	SNEP	Project	
Team	determined	that	the	Town	would	benefit	from	a	standardized	method	to	calculate	the	extent	
of	an	asset’s	vulnerability,	as	well	as	its	magnitude	and	probability	of	loss.	PACT	serves	as	a	key	
resource	that	Bourne,	and	other	communities,	can	utilize	to	conduct	critical	vulnerability	and	risk	
exercises.	

Climate Resilience Planning and Project Portfolio. Before	a	financing	strategy	can	be	
developed,	it’s	critical	to	understand	anticipated	infrastructure	needs.	While	this	planning	process	
should	be	unique	to	each	community,	it	should	include	the	following	key	considerations:		

§ Creating diversity and redundancy.	By	nature,	communities	with	more	diversity	in	
their	economic	base	and	decision-making	and	governance	processes	will	be	more	
resilient	to	disruptions	to	those	systems.	Unplanned	redundancies	can	be	inefficient	and	
costly.	However,	planned	redundancies	ensure	that	the	failure	of	any	single	component	
does	not	result	in	a	system-wide	crash.		

§ Promoting equity and inclusiveness.		The	planning	process	is	typically	associated	
with	guiding	land	use	and	infrastructure	development	needs	and	issues.	While	this	is	
important,	especially	in	the	context	of	financing	climate	change	resilience,	long-term	
resilience	requires	an	equitable,	inclusive	planning	process.	Planners	must	be	acutely	
aware	of	spreading	anticipated	risks	and	opportunities	equally.		

§ Proactively planning for innovation.	Resilient	communities	must	develop	new	and	
innovative	responses	to	risk	and	changing	conditions.	The	capacity	to	innovate	derives	
from	many	of	the	qualities	just	described.	Diverse	systems	generate	more	opportunities	
for	innovation	than	uniform	ones.	In	social	systems,	innovation	often	comes	from	the	
margins.	An	inclusive	society	is	better	able	to	engage	the	agency	and	creativity	of	all	its	
citizens.4		

Summary of Findings: Climate Resilience Planning and Project Portfolio.  The	
financing	process	and	implementation	system	is	predicated	on	a	robust	resilience	plan;	therefore,	
the	planning	process	should	be	an	immediate	and	ongoing	priority.	Developing	an	actionable,	
detailed,	and	comprehensive	resilience	plan	should	be	a	priority	for	Town	leaders.	Bourne	is	
working	to	establish	the	necessary	components,	processes,	and	people	to	organize	and	prioritize	
action	steps,	especially	those	in	the	short-term.	Current	Town	leadership	aims	to	be	proactive	in	its	
approach	and	seeks	to	emphasize	efficiency	in	carrying	out	these	action	steps.	While	challenges	

 
4 Bounce Forward report produced by the Kresge Foundation and Island Press. Citation: Bounce Forward: Urban 
Resilience in an Era of Climate Change. A Strategy Paper from Island Press and Kresge Foundation 



DRAFT – DO NOT CITE – DO NOT DISTRIBUTE 

 
5	

related	to	prioritizing	projects	remain,	the	current	Town	leadership	is	in	a	good	position	to	address	
these	challenges.	Assistance	with	prioritization	methods	will	further	enhance	staff	capacity.		

Creating A Resilient Financing System. The	planning	and	visioning	processes	that	take	place	
in	the	first	three	steps	of	the	Resilience	Financing	Framework	provide	a	foundation	for	developing	
and	implementing	a	financing	system	that	directs	capital	and	investment	in	the	most	efficient,	
effective,	and	sustainable	manner	possible.	The	complex	challenges	ahead	for	financing	large-scale	
infrastructure	efforts	are	clear,	especially	in	coastal	communities.	Therefore,	communities	need	to	
develop	innovative,	scalable	resilience	financing	institutions	and	systems	that	reflect	their	own	
needs.	Financing	systems	must	be	designed	to	aid	local	leaders	to	make	some	very	difficult	and	
nuanced	policy	decisions.	For	example:	

§ Balancing cost and benefit.	Resilience	infrastructure	projects	require	balancing	
short-term	costs	and	long-term	gains.	It	is	very	difficult	to	transform	avoided	costs	into	
cash	flow.	This	can	put	significant	pressure	on	local	revenues.		

§ Achieving fairness in the financing system.	Fairness	regarding	infrastructure	
financing	assumes	that	the	cost	burden	reflects	the	benefits	received	from	a	project.	
This	is	often	difficult	to	achieve	when	public	revenues	are	creating	significant	private	
benefits	in	very	specific	places.		

§ Ensuring equity in the financing and implementation process.	Achieving	equity	
in	the	financing	system,	though	important,	has	the	potential	to	complicate	resilience	
efforts.	The	ability	to	pay	is	a	persistent	issue	regarding	infrastructure	financing,	and	it	
is	often	at	odds	with	achieving	fairness.	

§ Expanding cooperation.	Effectively	addressing	climate	change	will	require	
cooperation	within	and	outside	of	local	governments.	Financing	systems	must	function	
within	a	complex	system	that	includes	intra-community	collaboration	among	agencies	
(planning,	budgeting,	and	finance, operations, legal) as well as inter-community 
engagement and implementation efforts (local-state-federal). 

Because	of	the	long-term	nature	of	the	climate	resilience	issue,	there	may	be	the	temptation	to	
defer	seemingly	large-scale	actions	to	a	later	date.	However,	the	most	productive	reforms	in	local	
finance	occur	in	small	increments	over	the	long-term.5	In	other	words,	current	leaders	are	not	
tasked	with	addressing	the	entirety	of	the	local	resilience	challenge,	but	rather	with	establishing	the	
systems	and	processes	that	can	serve	as	the	foundation	for	future	leaders	to	build	upon.	Current	
leaders	can	begin	taking	action	by	addressing	the	following	three	areas	that	are	fundamental	to	any	
resilience	financing	system:	(1)	institutional	structure	and	capacity,	(2)	revenue	streams	and	cash	
flow,	and	(3)	financing	mechanisms	and	cash	flow	management.	

Institutional Structures and Capacity. Public	institutions	are	the	organizing	mechanisms	
within	financing	systems,	ensuring	that	rules,	regulations,	and	codes	of	conduct	are	enforced.	They	
establish	and	manage	the	procurement	processes	and	provide	structure	to	advance	innovation	and	
ingenuity	within	the	public	financing	sector.	In	short,	institutions	will	create	the	enabling	
conditions	that	are	necessary	for	resilience	financing	processes	to	function	effectively.		

 

5 Bland, Robert L. A budgeting guide for local government: third edition. 2013. Page 5. 



DRAFT – DO NOT CITE – DO NOT DISTRIBUTE 

 
6	

There	are	a	variety	of	ways	that	institutions	can	be	structured	and	capitalized;	though	their	purpose	
in	the	financing	process	is	relatively	universal:	

§ Mobilize public and private capital.	The	primary	role	of	financing	institutions	is	to	
ensure	sufficient	investment	in	resilience	and	civic	infrastructure.	This	requires	
identifying	and	leveraging	a	variety	of	funding	and	revenue	sources.		

§ Incentivize investment in infrastructure.	Financing	institutions	apply	and	utilize	a	
variety	of	mechanisms	(e.g.,	bonds,	loans,	grants).	Institutions	must	provide	long-term	
financing	primarily	in	the	form	of	tax-free	revenue	and	conduit	bonds.	

§ Accelerate infrastructure development and construction.	Finally,	a	dedicated	
financing	institution	should	be	enabled	to	make	existing	design,	permitting,	contracting,	
and	construction	processes	more	efficient	and	effective.	This	requires	serving	as	an	
organizational	or	focal	point	of	multiple	public	agencies,	departments,	and	processes.	
The	financing	institution	in	many	ways	becomes	an	important	organizing	element	of	the	
policy	development	and	project	investment	process.		

Revenue Streams and Cash Flow. Revenues	are	paramount	to	the	financing	process.	
Ultimately,	the	scale	of	revenues	needed	to	support	resilience	activities	will	require	a	more	
thorough	understanding	of	the	anticipated	impacts,	assets	at	risk,	and	necessary	mitigation	
activities.		

Financing Mechanisms and Cash Flow Management. Resilience	financing	institutions	also	
have	the	ability	to	utilize	innovative	financing	and	investment	processes.	There	are	opportunities	
associated	with	three	innovative	processes:	(1)	value	capture;	(2)	alternative	bonds	and	debt	
financing	tools;	and	(3)	performance-based	financing.	

§ Value capture.	Value	capture	is	a	type	of	public	financing	that	recovers	some	or	all	the	
value	that	public	infrastructure	generates	for	private	landowners.	The	public	sector	is	
often	responsible	for	the	large	financial	investments	and	maintenance	of	infrastructure	
required	to	support	urban	development.	The	financing	of	such	projects	often	leans	
heavily	on	government	bodies	themselves.		

§ Alternative bonds and debt financing tools.	Debt	financing	is	the	key	type	of	long-
term	borrowing	that	localities	use	to	raise	money	for	building	and	constructing	long-
lived	infrastructure	assets.	About	90%	of	state	and	local	capital	spending	is	financed	by	
debt,	primarily	through	municipal	bond	markets.	Bond	financing	will	likely	remain	a	
significant	and	popular	financing	resource.	However,	local	leaders	are	beginning	to	
adopt	alternative	financing	mechanisms	to	address	infrastructure	needs,	especially	as	
they	relate	to	mitigating	the	impacts	of	climate	change.	These	alternative	financing	
mechanisms	provide	local	governments	with	cost-effective	and	flexible	ways	to	pay	for	
infrastructure	systems.6	

§ Paying for performance and outcomes.	Finally,	performance-based	financing	
focuses	on	achieving	desired	outcomes,	rather	than	the	means	for	getting	there.	If	

 
6 Infrastructure Financing: A Guide for Local Government Managers. A Policy Issue White Paper Prepared on behalf 
of the ICMA Governmental Aff airs and Policy Committee, January 2017. Can Chen, Florida International University, 
and John R. Bartle, University of Nebraska at Omaha. Page 15. 

  



DRAFT – DO NOT CITE – DO NOT DISTRIBUTE 

 
7	

infrastructure	investments	can	be	evaluated	based	on	desired	environmental,	economic,	
or	social	outcomes,	investors	would	be	able	to	target	funds	to	projects	that	achieve	
those	outcomes	at	the	lowest	cost.	This	provides	incentives	to	private	firms	to	find	the	
most	cost-effective	and	highest-performing	technologies	and	practices.		

These	three	alternative	and	innovative	financing	mechanisms	are	representative	of	broader	
financing	innovations	occurring	at	the	local	level;	as	the	impacts	of	climate	change	and	the	need	for	
resilient	infrastructure	grows	over	time,	so	too	will	the	need	to	adapt	financing	systems	and	
processes.		

Summary of Findings: Creating a Resilience Financing System. While	Bourne’s	current	
financing	position	is	favorable,	the	impacts	of	climate	change	require	an	expansion	of	Town	
capacities	over	time.	Bourne	will	need	to	expand	its	institutional	capacity	to	suit	the	scale	of	its	
short-	and	long-term	capital	and	civic	infrastructure	needs.	

It	is	a	very	encouraging	sign	to	see	that	the	Town	is	beginning	to	dedicate	particular	revenue	
streams	for	the	sole	and	specific	purpose	of	supporting	investments	in	resilience	infrastructure.	
Until	recently,	this	was	not	the	case;	the	Town	has	generally	funded	resilience	projects	out	of	its	
General	Fund.	That	said,	the	NextGrid	solar	project	has	created	an	opportunity	for	the	Town	to	
establish	a	dedicated	and	sustainable	flow	of	revenues	supporting	resilience	projects	and	programs.	
This	project	is	innovative,	scalable,	and	a	signal	to	the	community	of	the	Town’s	long-term	
commitment	to	protecting	its	viability.	

Bourne’s	history	of	strong	financial	management	and	budgeting	serves	the	Town	well	as	it	pursues	
innovative	resilience	financing	options	moving	forward.	The	Town’s	current	rules,	processes,	and	
procedures	have	led	the	community	to	the	point	that	it	achieves	budget	surpluses	in	some	years.	
The	strong	foundation	described	in	this	Phase	1	summary	serves	as	the	basis	for	the	following	
recommendations	from	Phase	2.	

PART 2: OPTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR MOVING FORWARD 

The	Town	of	Bourne	has	a	foundation	in	place	for	developing	and	advancing	a	strategic	resilience	
vision	and	plan	moving	into	the	future.	The	Town’s	financing	processes	have	the	capacity	to	
address	existing	and	short-term	infrastructure,	social,	and	environmental	needs.	However,	the	
anticipated	scale	and	complexity	of	addressing	future	climate	change	impacts	will	require	the	Town	
to	make	some	significant	changes	and	augmentations	to	its	financing	processes.		

Recommendation 1: Establish a Director of Resilience position within Town 
government. An	important	first	step	in	establishing	a	sustainable	resilience	program	within	the	
Town	of	Bourne	is	to	establish	a	Resilience	Director	position.	The	position	should	report	directly	to	
the	Town	Administrator	and	should	be	structured	to	ensure	the	coordination	and	efficiency	of	
resilience	programs	across	the	entire	town	government.	The	Resilience	Director	would	work	
directly	with	other	agency	directors,	thereby	ensuring	that	infrastructure	investments	are	meeting	
the	collective	goals	and	vision	of	the	Town.	The	Director	position	will	establish	an	organizational	
foundation	for	creating	a	more	formal	and	expansive	institutional	structure	in	the	future,	should	it	
be	necessary.	

Recommendation 2: Create a clear vision and plan of action. An	important	function	of	
the	Resilience	Director	will	be	to	guide	the	community	through	the	process	of	creating	a	clear	
resilience	vision	and	plan	of	action	for	achieving	that	vision.	This	first	plan	of	action	will	provide	the	



DRAFT – DO NOT CITE – DO NOT DISTRIBUTE 

 
8	

foundation	for	the	Town’s	resilience	programs	and	infrastructure	implementation	into	the	future.	
The	resilience	vision	and	plan	will:	

§ Create	a	broad	coalition	of	constituency	groups	and	civic	organizations	dedicated	to	
addressing	climate	change	resilience	and	mitigation	throughout	the	community.		

§ Identify	the	specific	infrastructure	projects	that	are	critical	for	addressing	climate	
change	threats	and	achieving	resilience	goals	and	the	estimated	fiscal	resources	
necessary	for	implementation.		

§ Create	a	framework	for	transforming	the	Town’s	economy	to	leverage	the	benefits	and	
opportunities	provided	by	investment	in	resilience	infrastructure.			

The	effectiveness	of	the	Town’s	resilience	planning	efforts	will	rely	in	large	part	on	its	success	in	
mobilizing	and	incentivizing	the	citizens	of	Bourne	to	action.	As	a	coastal	community,	Bourne	is	
already	directly	experiencing	the	impacts	of	climate	change,	specifically	regarding	tidal	flooding,	
sea-level	rise,	and	major	storm	events.	Town	leaders	and	citizens	are	aware	of	many	of	the	hazards,	
vulnerabilities,	and	risks	that	are	likely	to	occur	in	the	future.	The	Town’s	resilience	vision	must	
expand	on	this	existing community	awareness.	This,	in	turn,	requires	clear	leadership	coupled	with	
an	actionable	implementation	plan.		

The	resilience	plan	should	articulate	the	Town’s	response	to	long-term	resilience	by	clearly	stating	
the	resilience	goals	and	outcomes	within	each	Town	agency	and	program.	Resilience	represents	
one	of	those	rare	public	priorities	that	will	require	virtually	every	agency	and	public	employee	to	
engage	to	at	least	some	degree.	Some	agencies	have	a	very	direct	connection	to	resilience—these	
include	public	safety	and	emergency	preparedness;	public	works;	planning;	and	environmental	
programs.	Other	agencies	and	programs	have	a	less	direct	connection.	However,	the	scale,	
complexity,	and	comprehensive	nature	of	resilience	planning	and	implementation	will	require	an	
equally	comprehensive	response	from	the	entire	government	system.	

The	Resilience	Director	will	be	catalytic	to	the	entire	resilience	planning,	implementation,	and	
financing	process.	Specifically,	the	Director	will	create	important	connections	between	risk	and	
vulnerability	analysis,	project	portfolio	development,	and,	perhaps	most	importantly,	the	financing	
and	investment	process.	In	short,	establishing	this	position	within	the	Bourne	government	will	
ensure	program	accountability	and	leadership,	coordinated	local	government	response	to	climate	
impacts,	and	effective	community	engagement	and	participation	in	the	resilience	planning	and	
implementation	process.	

Recommendation 3: Implement a thorough risk and vulnerability assessment. The	
Town’s	long-term	resilience	plan	must	be	predicated	on	the	most	up-to-date	information	and	
science	associated	with	the	anticipated	climate	hazards.	The	Municipal	Vulnerability	Preparedness	
(MVP)	program	provided	Bourne	with	an	effective	baseline	understanding	of	climate	risks	facing	
the	community.	A	more	thorough	and	granular	assessment	will	be	required	to	ensure	effective	and	
efficient	long-term	investments.	The	next	step	is	to	build	on	the	results	of	the	MVP	by	conducting	a	
more	refined	assessment	of	anticipated	climate	impacts	to	the	community.	A	robust	climate	risk	
and	vulnerability	assessment	will	provide	Town	leaders	with	a	better	understanding	of	the	
exposure,	sensitivity,	and	resilience	capacity	of	current	systems	to	the	impacts	of	climate	change.	
This	will	in	turn	enable	Town	leaders	to	better	understand	these	risks	and	identify	the	actions	they	
can	take	now	to	be	more	prepared	and	resilient.	



DRAFT – DO NOT CITE – DO NOT DISTRIBUTE 

 
9	

There	is	no	standard	method	or	framework	for	conducting	a	risk	and	vulnerability	assessment.	
However,	there	are	specific	components	of	that	assessment	that	are	critical	to	the	financing	and	
implementation	process.	Specifically,	the	assessment	should	include	four	key	elements:	

1. An	inventory	and	detailed	summary	of	the	climate	hazards	facing	the	community.	This	
part	of	the	assessment	should	build	on	the	MVP	process,	thereby	reassessing	the	
hazards	that	are	of	the	greatest	concern	to	the	community	as	well	as	the	communities	
and	neighborhoods	that	are	likely	to	be	adversely	impacted.	

2. An	inventory	of	the	assets	and	resources	within	the	Town	that	are	at	risk,	including	
publicly	owned	assets	such	as	bridges,	roads,	public	building,	and	stormwater	
conveyance	systems;	privately	owned	assets	such	as	residential	and	commercial	
buildings,	private	roads,	and	power	and	energy	delivery	systems;	and	natural	assets	and	
resources,	including	wetlands,	beaches,	forests.	

3. An	evaluation	of	each	asset’s	vulnerability	and	sensitivity	to	the	climate	hazards	as	well	
as	the	adaptive	capacity	of	the	asset	to	recover	from	the	climate	impacts.	

4. An	evaluation	of	the	risk	of	adverse	impacts	to	the	assets,	including	the	probability	that	
an	impact	may	occur	and	the	potential	magnitude	of	the	impact	should	it	occur.	

The	combination	of	these	four	elements	will	enable	Bourne’s	community	leaders	to	prioritize	
climate	resilience	action	and	investments.	

Recommendation 4: Establish a detailed project portfolio. The	risk	and	vulnerability	
assessment,	coupled	with	the	asset	inventory,	will	provide	the	structure	for	a	detailed	mitigation	
strategy	and	project	portfolio.	The	portfolio	will	enable	Town	leaders	to	codify	a	resilience	plan	of	
action.	The	action	plan	should	be	organized	around	three	key	elements:	(1)	project	and	programs	
typology,	(2)	the	anticipated	timing	of	impacts	and	associated	project	implementation,	and	(3)	the	
expected	cost	of	taking	action.  

1. Resilience project typology. Local	resilience	projects	can	and	will	take	a	myriad	of	forms.	
However,	from	a	management	perspective,	they	can	be	categorized	based	on	three	basic	typologies.			

1. Baseline projects	and	programs	provide	structure	to	the	Town’s	resilience	system,	
including	staffing	support	(specifically	the	Resilience	Director),	necessary	studies	and	
assessments	(such	as	the	risk	and	vulnerability	analysis),	as	well	as	catalytic	project	
implementation. 

2. Enterprise or	outcome-based	projects	and	programs	are	focused	on	many	of	the	
essential	services	that	the	Bourne	government	provides	to	its	residents	and	businesses.	
Climate	resilience	will	overlap	a	variety	of	enterprise	programs	and	outcome-based	
needs	in	the	community,	including	wastewater/watershed	management,	drinking	water	
management	and	delivery,	solid	waste	management	and	recycling,	emergency	services,	
and	stormwater/drainage	mitigation.	Many	of	these	outcome-based	programs	are	
codified	through	an	established	enterprise	program/fund,	while	others	such	as	
stormwater	management	are	addressed	programmatically	throughout	various	Town	
government	agencies.	All	of	them	will	be	impacted	by	the	Town’s	resilience	
implementation	process	in	some	way.	

3. Capital and	infrastructure	projects	are	the	primary	focus	of	the	resilience	financing	
process.	These	projects	can	be	embedded	within	baseline	or	enterprise	processes,	but	
they	are	often	implemented	as	a	result	of	specific	community	needs,	including:	



DRAFT – DO NOT CITE – DO NOT DISTRIBUTE 

 
10	

– Protecting	an	essential	asset.	The	most	targeted	project	approach	is	associated	
with	protecting	specific	assets	that	are	threatened	by	climate	change	(a	
particular	community	building,	for	example).	

– Protecting	an	asset	class	or	system.	Many	community	resilience	projects	are	
designed	to	a	suite	of	assets	within	a	particular	system.	This	can	include	
protecting	road	and	transportation	networks,	residential	and	commercial	
buildings,	or	essential	public	utilities.	Projects	designed	to	protect	an	asset	class	
are	often	coupled	with	regulatory	or	permit	changes	(i.e.,	Building	codes,	
floodplain	management,	etc.).	

– Protecting	threatened	geographies	or	communities.	Large-scale	resilience	
projects	are	often	designed	to	protect	specific	communities	or	neighborhoods	
from	a	variety	of	climate	hazards	and	threats.	These	projects	can	include	flood	
mitigation/abatement	and	transportation	enhancements.	

– Incentivizing	outcomes.	Finally,	resilience	projects	may	be	designed	to	address	a	
particular	hazard	or	desired	outcome.	These	projects	are	often	associated	with	
enterprise	fund	activities,	but	they	can	also	include	other	community	priorities	
such	as	habitat	restoration	and	protection.	

 

 
 
2. Project timing.  Climate	impacts	are	expected	to	evolve	and	intensify	over	time.	The	
community	response	to	mitigate	risks	will	also	need	to	evolve.	This	will	require	that	the	resilience	
systems	and	processes	–	including	financing	processes	–	be	dynamic.	The	project	portfolio	should	
address	short-,	mid-	and	long-term	implementation	needs	and	time	horizons.	Categorizing	projects	
in	this	way	will	be	critical	for	creating	a	sustainable	revenue	plan.	

§ Short-term risks and infrastructure needs (0-3yrs). Short-term	risks	represent	
immediate	infrastructure	and	financing	needs.	The	financing	components	necessary	for	
addressing	short-term	needs	include:	

Baseline Enterprise (like) Infrastructure 

§ Climate	Risk	and	Vulnerability	
Assessment	

§ Integrated	Water	Resources	
Management	Plan	

§ Flooding	and	Drainage	
§ Watershed	Restoration	
§ Shoreline	Erosion	

§ Academy	Drive	
§ Circuit	Avenue	

§ Climate	Resilience	Action	Plan	
§ Communications/Outreach	
§ Program	Management	

§ Stormwater	Management	
§ Wastewater	Management	
§ Drinking	Water	Management	

§ Town	Hall	
§ Buzzards	Bay	Fire	Station	

§ Grant	Development	and	
Management	

§ Financing	Plan	and	Strategy	

§ Solid	Waste	and	Recycling	
§ Emergency	Management	and	
Response	

§ Community	Buildings	
§ Historic	Structures	
§ Buzzards	Bay	District	

Figure 2: Bourne MVP Projects Across Resilience Project Typologies (Source: Throwe Environmental) 



DRAFT – DO NOT CITE – DO NOT DISTRIBUTE 

 
11	

– Codified,	stable	funding	streams,	whether	they	be	supported	by	general	
obligation	bonds	and	general	funds	or	through	enterprise	programs	and	
dedicated	fees;	and,	

– A	clear	understanding	of	the	project’s	useful	life,	i.e.,	how	long	the	project	will	
sufficiently	address	changing	resilience	needs.	

§ Mid-term risks and infrastructure needs (3-15yrs). Mid-term	risks	and	infrastructure	
needs	are	the	systems	that	will	replace	or	augment	existing	short-term	infrastructure.	Given	
the	impacts	of	climate	change,	it	is	likely	that	the	scale	of	mid-term	needs	will	grow	over	
time.	Revenue	streams	in	support	of	mid-term	needs	are	not	necessarily	required	
immediately,	but	efforts	should	be	made	now	to	establish	the	processes	necessary	for	
generating	revenue	and	investment	in	the	future.	

§ Long-term risks and infrastructure needs (15yrs+). Long-term	risks	and	
infrastructure	needs	will	address	the	most	significant	climate	impacts	(i.e.,	major	
infrastructure	projects	to	address	sea-level	rise,	temperature	and	precipitation	changes,	and	
catastrophic	storms).	Given	the	anticipated	scale	of	the	need,	community	leaders	need	to	
begin	establishing	the	necessary	financing	systems	and	processes	in	the	short-term	with	a	
vision	towards	the	long-term.	This	includes	establishing	the	conditions	necessary	for	
investment,	identifying	anticipated	revenue	streams,	and	building	capacity	by	establishing	
appropriate	financing	institutions.	

3. Anticipated project costs. The	third	organizing	element	for	the	implementation	plan	and	
project	portfolio	is	anticipated	project	costs.	Project	cost	estimation	is	the	process	of	forecasting	the	
financial	and	other	resources	needed	to	complete	a	project	within	a	defined	scope.	Cost	estimation	
accounts	for	each	element	required	for	the	project	and	calculates	a	total	amount	that	determines	a	
project’s	budget.	Cost	estimates	for	projects	within	each	project	category	will	be	essential	for	
estimating	necessary	revenue	needs	and	for	determining	when	specific	resilience	projects	can	
move	forward.	As	climate	resilience	infrastructure	projects	move	through	the	design	and	
implementation	process,	it	is	essential	to	accurately	account	for	all	direct	and	indirect	expenses,	
including	labor,	materials	and	equipment,	facilities,	and	all	associated	risk.	However,	the	initial	
resilience	planning	and	implementation	processes	require	a	high-level	or	cursory	evaluation	of	
project	costs,	within	each	category	over	time.	This	high-level	evaluation	will	enable	community	
leaders	to	identify	the	appropriate	institutional	and	revenue	systems	necessary	for	achieving	long-
term	resilience.		

Recommendation 5: Establish a Climate Resiliency Infrastructure Fund. In	Phase	1,	it	
was	recommended	that	the	Town	of	Bourne	consider	establishing	a	new	program	or	institution	to	
serve	as	the	lead	or	center	point	of	the	resilience	action	planning	and	implementation	process.	After	
further	conversations	with	Town	leaders	and	evaluation	of	existing	financing	capacities,	the	
recommendation	is	for	the	Town	to	establish	an	internal	Climate	Resiliency	Infrastructure	Fund	
(“the	Resiliency	Fund”).	The	primary	purpose	of	the	Resiliency	Fund	would	be	to	expand	resilience	
investments	by	creating	efficiencies,	economies	of	scale,	and	political	synergies	for	addressing	
resilience	infrastructure	needs.	The	Resiliency	Fund	would	provide	Bourne	with	a	variety	of	
benefits,	including:	



DRAFT – DO NOT CITE – DO NOT DISTRIBUTE 

 
12	

§ Prioritizing resilience infrastructure projects within the financing system. 
The	targeted	nature	of	the	Resiliency	Fund	would	enable	it	to	focus	fiscal	resources	on	
those	projects	that	are	most	critical	to	the	resilience	implementation	and	planning	
process.	The	project	prioritization	process	would	not	necessarily	be	implemented	
outside	of	existing	processes	but	would	provide	a	necessary	focus	to	the	financing	
process.		

§ Accelerating and scaling the financing process by leveraging public and 
private revenue streams. The	Resiliency	Fund	would	have	the	focus	and	capacity	to	
target	investments	in	projects	identified	in	the	resilience	plan.	If	structured	
appropriately,	the	Resiliency	Fund	would	be	able	to	incentivize	private	investment	in	
support	of	infrastructure	and	resilience	projects.	

§ Establishing more effective partnerships with the private sector. Public-
private	partnerships	are	the	foundation	of	local	resilience	design,	implementation,	
maintenance,	and	financing.	These	partnerships	will	need	to	expand	in	scale,	
sophistication,	and	impact	as	climate	change	intensifies.	The	Resiliency	Fund	would	
have	the	capacity	to	develop	and	advance	innovative	relationships	with	a	broad	
spectrum	of	private	firms	and	actors.	

§ Reducing stress on Town budgets. The	Resiliency	Fund	will	not	eliminate	the	need	
for	public	investment	in	resilience	infrastructure.	Local	infrastructure	will	always	
require	local	government	leadership	and	investment.	However,	the	Resiliency	Fund	
would	potentially	reduce	pressure	on	local	budgets	by	creating	efficiencies,	leveraging	
private	investment,	and	reducing	the	cost	of	capital.	

§ Stimulating and advancing innovation and economic growth. In	addition	to	
streamlining	and	scaling	financing	processes,	the	Resiliency	Fund	can	also	be	charged	
with	incentivizing	investment	in	those	industries	and	businesses	that	will	be	integral	to	
the	Town’s	resilience	efforts.	This	dual	economic	development/financing	role	will	place	
the	Resiliency	Fund	in	a	position	to	ensure	that	infrastructure	investments	serve	
multiple	roles	and	provide	multiple	community	benefits.	

§ Creating more effective connections between climate change mitigation 
and adaptation activities and projects. Establishing	a	Resiliency	Fund	would	
enable	the	Town	to	link	climate	change	resilience	and	adaptation	efforts	with	climate	
change	and	carbon	mitigation	efforts,	which	is	important	for	several	reasons.	First,	the	
Town	of	Bourne	is	being	directly	impacted	by	climate	change.	It	has	a	unique	need	and	
responsibility	to	remain	resilient	to	those	impacts	and	reduce	the	pollution	that	is	
causing	those	impacts.	Second,	by	linking	adaptation	and	mitigation	programs	and	
strategies,	the	Town	will	create	more	potential	revenue	streams,	more	investment	
opportunities,	and	greater	community/business	engagement	in	the	process.	The	Town	
is	well-positioned	to	benefit	directly	from	the	mitigation-adaptation	connection	through	
the	NextGrid	solar	project.	The	revenues	generated	from	this	new	and	innovative	
public-private	partnership	will	create	critical	revenue	flows	while	at	the	same	time	
reducing	the	Town’s	carbon	footprint.	This	creates	a	very	effective	revenue	model	for	
the	Town’s	Resiliency	Fund	moving	forward. 

Resiliency Fund Revenues. The	Resiliency	Fund	would	support	key	functions	and	activities	in	
support	of	the	Town’s	resilience	action	plan.	This	Fund	would	provide	a	system	for	coordinating	
resilience	programs	and	project	investments.	In	some	respects,	the	Resiliency	Fund	would	function	
as	an	enterprise	program,	thereby	coordinating	and	implementing	climate	mitigation	and	



DRAFT – DO NOT CITE – DO NOT DISTRIBUTE 

 
13	

adaptation	programs	within	the	Town	government.	In	addition,	it	would	target	investments	to	
those	projects	and	programs	that	are	directly	associated	with	the	Town’s	resilience	action	plan.	
While	enterprise	programs	usually	rely	on	single	revenue	streams,	primarily	in	the	form	of	service	
or	regulatory	fees,	the	Resilience	Fund	will	have	the	capacity	and	perhaps	even	the	mission	to	
identify,	secure,	and	leverage	multiple	revenue	sources.	An	important	function	of	the	Resilience	
Director,	through	the	auspices	of	the	Resiliency	Fund,	will	be	to	develop	a	resilience	infrastructure	
revenue	plan	that	addresses	the	unique	resource	needs	of	the	three	project	typologies:	baseline,	
enterprise,	and	capital	infrastructure.		

Revenue	sources	supporting	resilience	programs	and	infrastructure	will	be	by	necessity,	diverse;	
however,	potential	revenue	sources	will	fall	within	the	three	categories	mirroring	the	project	
typologies:	operational	or	baseline	revenues,	enterprise	or	ongoing	revenue	streams,	or	project-
specific	revenues.	There	is	any	number	of	potential	revenues	sources	in	the	form	of	fees,	taxes,	and	
grants	that	have	the	potential	to	provide	either	temporary	or	permanent	support	for	the	Resiliency	
Fund	and	its	activities.	Key	issues	to	consider	when	assessing	the	potential	efficacy	of	a	revenue	
source	include	its	connection	to	the	resilience	issue;	the	potential	scale	of	the	source;	the	potential	
longevity	of	the	source;	and	the	impacts—positive	or	negative—on	the	community	(specifically	
how	the	revenue	source	impacts	fairness	and	equity).	Specific	opportunities	within	each	of	the	
three	revenue	categories	include	the	following	

§ Operational-baseline revenues.	Operational	funds	are	those	funds	that,	in	theory,	
support	any	institutional	activity.	In	actuality,	they	support	those	activities	that	are	
often	not	directly	included	in	the	project	financing	costs.	In	other	words,	operational	
funding	would	support	administration	and	program-related	activities.	In	the	case	of	the	
Resiliency	Fund,	operational	funds	would	potentially	support	all	expenses,	direct	and	
indirect.	Potential	revenue	sources	include	general	fund	revenues,	targeted	revenues	
from	taxes	and/or	special	service	fees	(i.e.,	the	solar	project	funding),	grant	funding,	and	
enterprise	program	funds	(exclusive	to	enterprise	programs).		

§ Enterprise revenues.	Enterprise	funds	are	used	to	support	activities	for	which	a	fee	is	
charged	to	external	users	for	goods	or	services.	While	the	Resiliency	Fund	will	not	
officially	be	an	enterprise	program,	it	will	likely	have	important	characteristics	of	an	
enterprise	fund,	including	sustained	revenue	streams	in	the	form	of	fees	supporting	
activities	directly	associated	with	the	assessment	and	collection	of	those	fees.	
Additionally,	enterprise	and	enterprise-like	funds	support	all	expenses	associated	with	
the	enterprise—direct	and	indirect.	Therefore,	they	are	appropriate	for	supporting	
administrative,	programmatic,	and	infrastructure	capital	costs.	

§ Project-specific revenues.	Project-specific	funds	refer	to	those	revenues	that	are	
assessed	and	leveraged	specifically	to	support	a	particular	project.	Though	they	can	be	
in	the	form	of	taxes	and	fees,	grants,	or	other	investment	revenues,	they	are	often	in	the	
form	of	fees	or	infrastructure	revenues.	As	is	the	case	with	enterprise	funds,	project	
funds	can	support	administrative	costs	and	direct	project	costs.	Potential	project-
specific	revenue	sources	include:	general	funds;	property	taxes	(specifically	through	
Special	Taxing	Districts	and/or	Tax	Incremental	Financing	Districts);	private	capital	
through	public-private	partnerships	and	concession	agreements;	and	private	and	
nonprofit	philanthropic	investment,	including	donations,	grants,	and	program	
investments.	



DRAFT – DO NOT CITE – DO NOT DISTRIBUTE 

 
14	

There	are	clear	overlaps	between	the	three	primary	revenue	categories.	For	example,	fees	
generated	through	enterprise	funds	can	cover	all	three	revenue	categories,	while	project-specific	
funding	can,	and	really	must,	cover	associated	administrative	costs.	However,	the	distinctions	
between	these	three	categories	will	enable	Town	leaders	to	identify	potential	sources	of	revenues	
most	effectively.  

Project financing and cash flow management. The	Resiliency	Fund	will	have	the	capacity	
to	facilitate	financing	transactions,	directly	or	indirectly,	in	support	of	restoration	projects	and	
practices	throughout	the	Bay	watershed.	The	SNEP	Project	Team	recommends	that	the	Resiliency	
Fund	be	established	as	an	internal	program	and/or	agency	within	the	Bourne	government	system.	
This	has	two	advantages.	First,	the	resources	supporting	the	Resiliency	Fund’s	activities	will	be	
restricted	to	those	activities.	This	provides	system	oversight	and	accountability.	Second,	the	
financing	activities	associated	with	the	Town’s	resilience	action	plan	will	be	conducted	within	the	
existing	systems,	agencies,	and	structures.	This	will	allow	the	Resiliency	Fund	to	be	established	in	a	
manner	that	leverages	the	strengths	of	that	system	and	ensure	that	the	resilience	process	is	
efficient	and	effective.	The	Resiliency	Fund	will	likely	focus	on	three	types	of	leveraging	tools	and	
processes:	bond	financing;	value	capture;	and	public-private	partnerships.	

§ Bond financing.	The	use	of	municipal	or	publicly	issued	bonds	is	ubiquitous	regarding	
infrastructure	financing.	Borrowing	is	essential	for	large-scale	infrastructure	projects	
and	the	use	of	tax-free	bonds	provides	local	and	state	governments	with	a	relatively	
inexpensive	source	capital	with	long-term	payback	time	horizons.	The	capacity	to	issue	
traditional	tax-free	revenue	bonds	will	be	important	for	many	of	the	large-scale	
structural	practices	and	projects	in	the	Town’s	project	portfolio.		

§ Value capture.	As	previously	discussed,	this	type	of	public	financing	recovers	some	or	
all	the	value	that	public	infrastructure	generates	for	private	landowners.	"Capturing”	
the	subsequent	increase	in	value,	governments	can	recuperate	funds,	which	can	
ultimately	be	used	to	generate	additional	value	for	communities	in	the	future.	Specific	
types	of	value	capture	financing	mechanisms	include:	

– Special	assessment	districts	are	independent,	special-purpose	governmental	
units,	other	than	school	district	governments,	that	exist	as	separate	entities	with	
substantial	administrative	and	fiscal	independence	from	general-purpose	local	
governments.	Special	district	governments	provide	specific	services	that	are	not	
being	supplied	by	existing	general-purpose	governments.	Most	perform	a	single	
function,	but	in	some	instances,	their	enabling	legislation	allows	them	to	provide	
several,	usually	related,	types	of	services.		

– Tax	increment	financing	(TIF)	is	a	tool	used	by	municipal	governments	to	
stimulate	economic	development	in	targeted	geographical	areas.	TIFs	are	used	
to	finance	redevelopment	projects	or	other	investments	using	the	anticipation	of	
future	tax	revenue	resulting	from	new	development.	When	a	TIF	district	is	
established,	the	“base”	amount	of	property	tax	revenue	is	recorded	using	the	
status	quo	before	improvements.	To	the	extent	such	efforts	are	successful,	
property	values	rise,	leading	to	an	increase	in	actual	property	tax	receipts	above	
the	base.	While	the	base	amount	of	property	tax	revenue	(the	level	before	
redevelopment	investments)	continues	to	fund	city	services,	the	increase	in	tax	
revenue	is	used	to	pay	bonds	and	reimburse	investors	and	is	often	captured	as	
city	revenue	and	allocated	toward	other	projects.		



DRAFT – DO NOT CITE – DO NOT DISTRIBUTE 

 
15	

– Joint	development	projects	involve	integrated	development	of	public	
infrastructure	improvements,	with	projects	physically	or	functionally	related	to	
commercial,	residential	or	mixed-use	development.	Public	and	private	
investments	are	coordinated	between	agencies	and	developers	to	improve	land	
owned	by	a	public	agency.	Projects	are	designed	to	benefit	both	public	and	
private	entities	and	share	costs	among	project	partners.	

§ Public-private partnerships.	A	public–private	partnership	(P3)	is	
a	cooperative	arrangement	between	two	or	more	public	and	private	sectors,	typically	of	
a	long-term	nature.	In	other	words,	it	involves	government(s)	and	business(es)	that	
work	together	to	complete	a	project	and/or	to	provide	services	to	the	population.	P3s	
have	become	an	increasingly	popular	way	to	get	major	infrastructure	projects	built.	
Compared	with	traditional	procurement	solutions,	P3s	can	also	spread	a	project’s	cost	
over	a	more	extended	period	and	can	thus	free	up	public	funds	for	investment	in	sectors	
in	which	private	investment	is	impossible	or	otherwise	inappropriate.	In	short,	P3s	can	
be	very	effective	tools	for	delivering	effective,	cost-efficient	projects	and	associated	
services.	As	governments	seek	to	upgrade	infrastructure	and	address	the	challenges	of	
climate	change,	among	other	objectives,	the	need	for	private-sector	involvement	has	
grown.	P3s	will	likely	become	important	mechanisms	for	addressing	climate	risks	in	
coastal	communities	like	Bourne	given	their	capacity	to	manage	certain	types	of	risk.		

PART 3: NEXT STEPS 

Since	the	completion	of	Phase	1,	the	Town	of	Bourne	has	continued	to	show	leadership	on	climate	
resilience	planning	and	financing	issues.	With	the	strong	desire	to	continue	building	a	more	
prepared	and	resilient	community,	Bourne	has	become	a	model	for	resilience	on	Cape	Cod	and	
across	the	East	Coast.	By	establishing	a	financing	system	that	is	dedicated	to	addressing	climate	
resilience,	Bourne	will	be	in	an	excellent	position	to	draw	in	outside	capital	and	make	the	necessary	
investments	in	its	community’s	civic	and	capital	infrastructure.	

The	NextGrid	project	and	the	decision	by	the	Board	of	Selectmen	to	establish	the	Climate	Resiliency	
Infrastructure	Fund	have	created	a	very	effective	and	innovative	foundation	for	scaling	a	
sustainable	resilience	financing	system.	We	recommend	the	following	next	steps	to	build	on	the	
momentum	that	Bourne	leaders	have	generated.	

§ Establish	the	Resilience	Director	position.	

§ Convene	a	community	task	force	charged	with	producing	a	detailed	resilience	plan.	The	
plan	should	address	the	specific	projects	necessary	for	ensuring	long-term	resilience.	In	
addition,	the	process	should	engage	community	and	regional	leaders	from	across	Cape	
Cod	to	ensure	effective	coordination	and	synergies.		

§ Commission	a	detailed	risk	and	vulnerability	analysis	parallel	to	the	resilience	planning	
process.	

§ Draft	a	strategic	plan	for	the	Resilience	Fund,	including	programmatic	goals	and	
functions,	administrative	structure,	and	necessary	funding	support.	The	strategic	plan	
should	include	a	detailed	revenue	“map”	that	addresses	each	of	the	project	typologies.	



DRAFT – DO NOT CITE – DO NOT DISTRIBUTE 

 
16	

These	four	next	steps,	coupled	with	the	five	key	recommendations	above,	will	provide	Bourne	
leaders	with	an	effective	road	map	for	addressing	long-term	climate	resilience.	There	are	no	easy	
solutions	to	the	challenges	facing	the	Town	of	Bourne	and	other	coastal	communities	like	it.	
However,	the	processes	provided	in	this	report	will	provide	the	Bourne	community	with	an	
opportunity	to	stay	resilient	and	vibrant	regardless	of	the	challenges	ahead.	

This	report	was	produced	by	the	dedicated	team	at	Throwe	Environmental,	LLC	in	the	company's	role	as	a	core	
partner	within	the	SNEP	Network.	Throwe	Environmental	is	committed	to	developing	climate	resilience,	environmental	
finance,	and	policy	and	governance	solutions	for	its	public,	private,	and	nonprofit	clients.	As	a	SNEP	Network	partner	
organization,	Throwe	Environmental	focuses	on	financing,	training,	and	leadership	development.	Throwe	Environmental	is	
based	in	Bristol,	RI	and	helps	communities	nationwide	address	their	climate	challenges. 	

 





























































































































































































































































































































Brooks & DeRensis Miyares & Harrington KP Law Comments

Meier

Froman

Slade

MacDonald

Mastrangelo

King

Cannon

November 29, 2021

Town Counsel Scroing Sheet









































    
               

 
         Selectmen’s Correspondence 

  

December 14, 2021 
 
 
 

A. Letter from R. Hapgood re Roadway Safety Committee 
B. Upper Cape Cod Regional Tech School letter re negotiations with teachers & 

administrators 
C. Letter from MA Division of Marine Fisheries re shellfish at Barlows Landing 
D. Xfinity letter regarding channel changes 
E. Intent to negotiate letter from the MA & Northern New England Laborers’ 

District Council (Bourne DPW, Units A & B, ISWM.) 
F. DEP Impact Area Groundwater Study Program Letter 
G. Letter from MA Division of Marine Fisheries re shellfish at Fishermans Cove 

 



















 

 
 

 

 

 

Charles D. Baker 
Governor 
 
Karyn E. Polito 
Lieutenant Governor 

 

Kathleen A. Theoharides 
Secretary 

 
Martin Suuberg 
Commissioner 

 

This information is available in alternate format. Contact Michelle Waters-Ekanem, Director of Diversity/Civil Rights at 617-292-5751. 
TTY# MassRelay Service 1-800-439-2370 

MassDEP Website: www.mass.gov/dep 
Printed on Recycled Paper 

 

 December 9, 2021 

 
 

Impact Area Groundwater Study Program  
ATTN: Mr. Mark Leeper, Remediation Manager 
ARNG Cleanup & Restoration Branch  
111 George Mason Drive  
Arlington, VA, 22204   

RE: BOURNE--BWSC 
Release Tracking Number: 4-0015031 
Joint Base Cape Cod (JBCC) Draft Central 
Impact Area 2021 Annual Environmental  
Monitoring Report, Comments 

 
Dear Mr. Leeper: 
 
The Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection ("MassDEP") has reviewed the document 
entitled “Draft Central Impact Area 2021 Annual Environmental Monitoring Report” (the “Report”) dated 
November 2021.  The Report was prepared by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) on behalf of the 
Army National Guard Impact Area Groundwater Study Program (IAGWSP) at Joint Base Cape Cod (JBCC).  
The Report describes groundwater and system performance monitoring activities performed at the 
Central Impact Area (CIA) groundwater plume between July 1, 2020, and June 30, 2021. MassDEP offers 
the following comments on the Report. 
 
General Comment: 
 
There are several places in the Report where the IAGWSP notes that hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-
triazine (RDX) in specified CIA monitoring wells have had concentrations either above or below the RDX 
risk-based concentration (RBC) of 0.6 micrograms per liter (μg/L) in consecutive groundwater sampling 
rounds.  MassDEP recommends that CIA plan views and cross-sections depicting RDX distribution in 
groundwater be updated whenever there are multiple consecutive sampling results to confirm the 
presence or absence of RDX RBCs at any location within the CIA groundwater plume.  Notable examples 
are provided in the page-specific comments of this letter. 
 
Page-specific Comments: 
 
1. Page 3-1, Section 3.1, Laboratory Analysis: 

The text states, “Breakthrough of RDX was detected at the CIA MTU1 “MID2” sampling port on 09 
July 2020.  Carbon media was exchanged on 06 August 2020.  Breakthrough of RDX was detected at 
the CIA MTU1 “MID2” sampling port on 04 May 2021.  Carbon media was exchanged on 02 June 
2021.  Breakthrough of RDX was detected at the MTU2 “MID2” sampling port on 01 October 2020 



Release Tracking Number 4-0015031  Page 2 of 4 

and again on 03 November 2020.  Carbon media was exchanged on 17 November 2020.  
Breakthrough of RDX was detected at the MTU3 “MID2” sampling port on 01 December 2020 and 
again on 05 January 2021.  Carbon media was exchanged on 13 January 2021.  Breakthrough of RDX 
was detected at the MTU3 “MID2” sampling port on 02 February 2021, 02 March 2021, and again 
on 01 April 2021.  Carbon media was exchanged on 14 April 2021.”  Please indicate what the carbon 
changeout criteria is for the CIA MTUs.  The text indicates that carbon was changed after an initial 
breakthrough of RDX at the CIA MTU1 “MID2” sampling port; after two consecutive monthly 
breakthroughs of RDX at the CIA MTU2 “MID2” sampling port; and after two and three consecutive 
monthly breakthroughs of RDX at the CIA MTU3 “MID2” sampling port.  Also, please indicate if the 
IAGWSP identified any operational issues with the MTU3 treatment system that may have resulted in 
the rapid breakthrough of RDX at the MID2 sampling port between the carbon exchange on January 
13, 2021, and breakthrough on February 2, 2021. 

 
2. Page 4-1, Section 4.2, Water Levels and Hydraulic Gradients: 

The text indicates, “The horizontal hydraulic gradient from MW-89M2 to MW-209M2 (Zone 1 and 
nearer the Top of Mound) measured approximately 0.00201 ft/ft during the January 2021 gauging 
event (Figure 4-2) while the gradient measured between the same well pair in January 2021 was 
approximately 0.00188 ft/ft.”  MassDEP notes that a January 2021 measurement period is referenced 
twice for comparison in the text.  Please correct the text to January 2020 for one of these periods. 
 

3. Page 4-3, Section 4.5, Capture Zone Analysis – Zone 1: 
The Report states, “Southwest of the MW-89 monitoring wells pair the width of the capture zone 
gradually decreases.”  MassDEP notes that Figure 4-2 in the Report indicates a gradual narrowing of 
the capture zone upgradient and to the southeast of the MW-89 monitoring well pair.  Please revise 
the text. 
 

4. Page 5-3, Section 5.4.1, Explosives Zone 1, Main Plume: 
The Report indicates, “In the shallow southern lobe of the main plume recent concentration spikes 
or rising trends in wells along Turpentine Road are likely related to extensive intrusive munitions 
removal activity in adjacent areas.  Until 2019 concentrations of RDX in well MW-01S (0.37 μg/L, 
February 2021) had consistently been above the RBC, and usually the HA of 2.0 ug/L, over its 
sampling history but have been below the RBC in three consecutive samples.  Well MW-01M2 (1.0 
ug/L, February 2021), which is screened 35-40 feet deeper than MW-01S was consistently above the 
HA until 2010 but has fluctuated below the HA in recent years (except for 2018) and was below the 
RBC for two before rising above the RBC during the current reporting period.  Approximately 360 
feet to the north RDX concentrations at MW-90S, which have historically fluctuated mostly below 
3.0 μg/L but spiked to 17.2 μg/L in 2016, fell to 1.1 μg/L (February 2021), its lowest level since 2010, 
during reporting period.  Another 360 feet to the north at MW-91S, where concentrations have 
fluctuated between 2.0 μg/L and 4.0 μg/L since 2010, yielded its highest concentration since 2009 
(4.3 μg/L, February 2021).  However, the concentration at well OW-1 (approximately 100 feet south 
and screened at a similar elevation as MW-91S), was an historic low for that well 0.46 μg/L 
(February 2021).  Thus, the source areas for the main plume remain active and likely will for as long 
as the munitions removal activity continues.  In the deeper lobe of the main plume in February 
2021, concentrations continue to fluctuate around the HA at MW-91M1 (2.4 μg/L).  Approximately 
390 feet to the north, the RDX concentration at MW-93M1 (0.19 J μg/L) was below the RBC for a 
third consecutive year.  Approximately 330 feet further north, at MW-101M1 a concentration of 5.0 
μg/L was observed, which is an historic high for this well.  Approximately 350 feet further, at the 
northernmost well in the deeper lobe (MW-100M1), a third consecutive concentration (0.20 μg/L) 



Release Tracking Number 4-0015031  Page 3 of 4 

below the RBC was observed.”  MassDEP recommends that the RDX distribution on the F-F’ cross-
section (Figure 5-6) be substantially revised based upon the information provided in the Report.  For 
instance, RDX concentrations below the RBC have been detected during multiple consecutive 
sampling events at monitoring wells MW-01S, MW-93M1 and MW-100M1, indicating that RDX 
concentrations are consistently below the RBC in these three wells.  However, these wells are in the 
0.6 μg/L to 2 μg/L RDX concentration range on Figure 5-6.  RDX concentrations above the RBC were 
detected during the reporting period at monitoring wells MW-01M2 and MW-98M1, but these wells 
are located outside of the CIA RBC plume boundary on Figure 5-6.  The 2 μg/L to 6 μg/L RDX 
concentration range should be extended southward on Figure 5-6 to encompass MW-91M1 where a 
RDX concentration of 2.4 μg/L was detected during the reporting period.  Also, the RDX concentration 
of 0.43 μg/L for MW-91S shown on Figure 5-6 should be changed to 4.3 μg/L to match the 
concentration reported for this well in the text and provided on Table 5-2 of the Report. 
 

5. Page 5-6, Section 5.4.1, Explosives Zone 1, CS-19 Plume: 
The Report states, “The highest RDX concentration was 0.55 μg/L detected at source area 
monitoring well 58MW0002 and RDX increased from 0.97J μg/L to 1.4 μg/L at 58MW0009E.”  Please 
clarify if the highest RDX concentration was detected at 58MW0009E (1.4 μg/L) rather than 
58MW0002 (0.55 μg/L) and revise text as necessary. 
 

6. Page 5-7, Section 5.2, Explosives Zone 2, Main RDX Plume: 
The Report indicates, “Well MW-42M1 (0.85 μg/L), located nearly 400 feet southwest of MW-607, 
MW-42M1, which had been ND for explosives from 1999 to 2017, saw its second consecutive 
concentration above the RBC in February 2021.”  MassDEP recommends revising the B-B’ cross-
section provided as Figure 5-3 to depict RDX concentrations greater than the RBC in the vicinity of 
monitoring well MW-42M1 due to consecutive detections of RDX at concentrations above the RBC in 
this well.  MassDEP also recommends extending the B-B’ RDX cross-section to the southwest to 
include monitoring well MW-618 since this well bounds the main body of the RDX plume in this area. 
 

7. Page 5-10, Section 5.4.2, Perchlorate: 
The Report states, “At MW-184M1, approximately 530 feet to the northeast, concentrations 
gradually increased from 2010 to the historical high detection of 2.2 μg/L in March 2014.  A sixth 
consecutive detection below the MMCL (1.6 μg/L) was observed at this well in February 2021, 
however, the 2.0 μg/L plume contour still extends into the CIA source area pending confirmation of 
a declining trend at the source (Figure 5-14).”  MassDEP notes that Figure 5-14 depicts the trailing 
edge of the CIA perchlorate plume as being downgradient and outside of the CIA boundary.  Please 
describe what the IAGWSP considers to be the CIA source area and revise the text if necessary. 
 

8. Page 5-10, Section 5.4.2, Perchlorate: 
The Report indicates, “Approximately 2,500 feet downgradient, monitoring wells MW-95M1/M2 
have historically approximated the northeast boundary of the perchlorate plume at the well fence 
along the impact area boundary.  However, the 2.1 μg/L detected in MW-95M1 in March 2021 was 
an historic high and the second MMCL exceedance in three years so this plume boundary may need 
to be reconsidered if further monitoring indicates a rising trend.  Twenty-five feet higher in the 
section concentrations in MW-95M2 were last >RL in 2011.”  MassDEP recommends replacing the 
MW-95M2 perchlorate trend plot provided on Figure 5-14 with a perchlorate trend plot for MW-95M1 
as the rising perchlorate trend in this well is of greater interest. 
 
 



Release Tracking Number 4-0015031  Page 4 of 4 

9. Page 5-10, Section 5.4.2, Perchlorate: 
The Report states, “Wells MW-209M1, located approximately 900 feet upgradient of extraction well 
CIA-EW2, monitors the perchlorate plume’s leading edge on cross-section E-E’ (Figure 5-12).  This 
well was ND from 2002 to 2006 when sampling for perchlorate was discontinued.  Upon resumption 
in 2015 concentrations have steadily increased, reaching the MMCL in 2018 and an historic high of 
3.0 in March 2021, which was also the site-wide maximum during the current reporting period.  
Except for a single sample in 2007 perchlorate concentrations in MW-209M2 have always been 
below the MMCL, with the most recent result being 0.27 μg/L in March 2021, the lowest 
measurement at this well since 2005.”  MassDEP recommends replacing the MW-209M2 perchlorate 
trend plot provided on Figure 5-14 with a perchlorate trend plot for MW-209M1 as the rising 
perchlorate trend in this well is of greater interest. 
 

Please incorporate this letter into the Administrative Record for the Central Impact Area groundwater.  If 
you have any questions regarding this matter, please contact me at (508) 946-2871 or Elliott Jacobs at 
(508) 946-2786.  
 

Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Leonard J. Pinaud, Chief                                                                                     
Federal Site Management  
Bureau of Waste Site Cleanup 

 
P/EJ 
 
Ec: Upper Cape Boards of Selectmen                                                                                                                           

Upper Cape Boards of Health  
JBCC Cleanup Team 
MassDEP Boston/Southeast Region 

 



The Commonwealth of Massachusetts 
Division of Marine Fisheries 

251 Causeway Street, Suite 400, Boston, MA 02114 
p: (617) 626-1520 | f: (617) 626-1509 

www.mass.gov/marinefisheries 

  

CHARLES D. BAKER KARYN E. POLITO KATHLEEN A. THEOHARIDES RONALD S. AMIDON DANIEL J. MCKIERNAN 
Governor Lt. Governor Secretary Commissioner Director 

  

December 6, 2021 

Board of Selectmen                                                               Board of Selectmen               

Town of Wareham                                                                 Town of Bourne 

Town Hall                                                                              Town Hall 

Wareham, MA 02571                                                            Buzzards Bay, MA 02532 

 

Ladies & Gentlemen: 

 

 In accordance with Chapter 130, Section 74A of the Massachusetts General Laws, the 

Division of Marine Fisheries has determined that the portion of Fisherman’s Cove designated as  

(BB:43.4), in the Towns of Wareham and Bourne, classified as "CONDITIONALLY 

APPROVED" and in the “CLOSED” status based on the NSSP Marina Policy now meets 

established criteria for the harvest of shellfish. As a result, the status of this area has been changed 

to "OPEN TO SHELLFISHING" as of November 1, 2021. The Towns were notified of the 

opening, but the notice was inadvertently not emailed out. 

 

The below defined area may be opened to the harvest of shellfish for direct human 

consumption subject to local rules and regulations under authority of Massachusetts General Laws, 

Chapter 130, Section 52. 

 

                          

 CLASSIFICATION: CONDITIONALLY APPROVED 

SEASONAL STATUS CHANGE 

Status: Open To Shellfishing 

 November 1 - April 30 

 [All Dates Inclusive] 

 

BB:43.4 

Macos  

 

"The waters and flats and all tributaries of that portion of Fishermans Cove, in the Towns 

of Wareham and Bourne, south of a line drawn along the Route 6 Bridge and north of a 

line drawn from the "NO SHELLFISHING" sign at #39 Buttermilk Way to the "NO 

SHELLFISHING" sign at the western end of the stone wall approximately 300' southwest 

of the railroad bridge and west of a line drawn across the mouth of the Bourne Marina." 

 

 

 The status of the above conditionally approved area, BB:43.4, shall automatically revert to 

"CLOSED TO SHELLFISHING" on May 1, 2022 unless the Division changes the area’s status 

prior to said date.  

                                                                                         

http://www.mass.gov/marinefisheries


 

 

Sincerely, 

 

                                       

______________________    

                                                                                                             Daniel J. McKiernan, 

                                                                                                             Director 

 

 

 

cc: P. Moran, K. Clayton. OLE  

      J. Kennedy, DMF 

      R. Amidon, DFG 

      J. Hobill, DEP 

      FDA, DPH  

      G. Buckminster, Wareham Shellfish Constable 

      C. Southwood, Bourne Shellfish Constable 

 

 

 

                                    

                                                                                           

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

 
 


	6. 11.02.21 DRAFT Selectmen's Minutes
	6. 11.09.21 Minutes - DRAFT
	Applicant:
	edacard72_@.gmail.com

	7a. Final Revised Recycling Policy 2022 V2
	7b.  Common Victualer (without Liquor) License Renewal List
	7b. Auto Dealers Class I, II, III, Junk Yard and Livery License Renewals
	7c.  Charter with Recommendations for Changes 11.15.21
	Town of Bourne
	Charter

	7c. 2011201 Charter Review Committee Submission Cover Sheet Final Documentation
	Town of Bourne
	2020 Charter
	Review Committee

	7d. Bourne Phase 2 Final Report_DRAFT_SNEP Template
	7e. Town Counsel Prop Brooks & DeRensis
	7e. Town Counsel Prop KP Law
	7e. Town Counsel Prop Miyares & Harrington
	7e. Town Counsel Scoring Sheet - November 29 2021
	Sheet1

	7f. Memorandum of Agreement between Town of Bourne and NextGrid Inc. 112821
	16. Prior to the initiation of any court proceeding regarding the terms of this Agreement or performance thereunder, the Town and the Developer agree that such disputes shall be first subject to nonbinding arbitration or mediation, for a period not lo...
	17. This Memorandum of Agreement is the entire agreement among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous oral and written agreements and discussions.

	7g. Town of Bourne - Nextgrid MOA - Executed - 07-26-21
	7h. Barnstable County Land Cover Letter - December 8 2021
	7h. Offer to Purchase Barnstable County Land - December 8 2021
	7i. Plymouth Nuclear Plant Newspapaer article
	7k. Glenn Cannon Appointed Bourne Acting Town Administrator - September 7 2021
	9a.  12.15.21 Notice of Public Meeting - Bourne Complete Streets



